## **MASTER AGREEMENT**

## **BETWEEN**

## THE BOARDS OF SCHOOL DIRECTORS

## **FOR THE**

CALEDONIA CENTRAL SUPERVISORY UNION
CALEDONIA COOPERATIVE SCHOOL DISTRICT
DANVILLE SCHOOL DISTRICT
PEACHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT
CABOT SCHOOL DISTRICT
TWINFIELD SCHOOL DISTRICT

# **AND THE**

CALEDONIA CENTRAL EDUCATION

ASSOCIATION – VT – NEA

CABOT TEACHERS ASSOCIATION – VT – NEA

**JULY 1, 2022 – JUNE 30, 2025** 

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgement of Arbitration	3
PREAMBLE	3
Article 1 Recognition	3
Article 2 Association Rights	4
Article 3 Board Rights	5
Article 4 Teacher Rights	6
Article 5 Grievance Procedure	9
Article 6 Individual Teacher Contracts	12
Article 7 Teacher Evaluation	15
Article 8 Mentoring	16
Article 9 Teaching Conditions	17
Article 10 Salary and Compensation	22
Article 11 Insurance	26
Article 12 Leaves	30
Article 13 Tuition Reimbursement	39
Article 14 Reduction in Force	42
Article 15 Negotiations Procedures	45
Article 16 General Provisions	45
Article 17 Retirement	46
Article 18 Duration	49
Appendix A1: Barnet, Danville, Peacham, Walden and Waterford Salary Schedules	51
Appendix A2: Cabot Teachers Salary Schedules	54
Appendix A3: Twinfield Teachers Salary Schedules	57
APPENDIX B CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES	60
Appendix C - TERMS AND CONDITIONS - HEALTHCARE ARBITRATION AWARD	63

## **Acknowledgement of Arbitration**

In accordance with 12 V.S.A. §5652(b), the Board and the Association understand that this Agreement contains an agreement to arbitrate. After signing this Agreement, the Board and the Association understand that they will not be able to bring a lawsuit concerning any dispute that may arise which is covered by the arbitration agreement, unless it involves a question of constitutional or civil rights. Instead, the parties agree to submit any such dispute to an impartial arbitrator in accordance with the provisions contained in the Agreement.

## **PREAMBLE**

This collective bargaining agreement (the "Agreement") is entered into by and between the, Caledonia Central Supervisory Union, Caledonia Cooperative, Danville, Twinfield, Cabot and Peacham Boards of School Directors, hereinafter called the "Board," and the Caledonia Central Education Association and the Cabot Teachers Association affiliated with the Vermont Education Association and the National Education Association, hereinafter called the "Association."

## **Article 1 Recognition**

- 1.1 The Board recognizes the Association, pursuant to Title 16, Chapter 57 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated, as the exclusive representative for collective bargaining purposes concerning the terms and conditions of employment for all teachers as licensed by the Vermont Agency of Education and under contract with the Board to provide educational services for which licensure is required, excluding administrative personnel as defined by Chapter 57 of 16 V.S.A.
- 1.2 Throughout this Agreement reference to the Board(s) or District(s) shall be deemed to refer to one of the six (6) individual Boards noted in the Preamble of this Agreement. As such, where action by the referenced Board or District is required, such action, unless otherwise expressly noted, shall be the action of each individual Board and/or District relative to that District's teachers or local bargaining unit.
- 1.3 Throughout this Agreement, reference to this Association or Associations shall be deemed to refer to Association noted in the Preamble of this Agreement. As such, where action by the referenced Association or bargaining unit is required, such action, unless otherwise expressly noted, shall be the action of the Association.
- 1.4 Despite references in the Agreement to the Board or the Association as such, each reserves the right to act hereunder by committee, individual member, or designated representative, whether or not a member.

- 1.5 Throughout this Agreement, reference to Superintendent shall be deemed to include any administrator to whom the Superintendent has delegated authority to act on his/her behalf.
- 1.6 Throughout this Agreement, certain provisions shall be deemed to apply to Teachers and other professionals that currently work at Cabot or Twinfield Schools, and they are marked as "Applies only to Cabot and Twinfield." In other parts of this agreement, certain provisions of this contract do not apply to special education teachers assigned to Cabot or Twinfield Schools. They are marked as "Does not apply to Cabot and Twinfield."

## **Article 2 Association Rights**

- 2.1 The Association will have use of school facilities as set forth in Vermont law. See 16 V.S.A. §2002. In addition, the Association may use such equipment as is normally located for teacher's use within the school, as well as school audio-visual equipment, upon appropriate request to, and approval of, the principal, provided that such use does not interfere with the teaching of pupils, interrupt normal school operations, or include the posting of denigrating material.
- 2.2 Any cost for repair or replacement as the result of such use of the equipment, and for the cost of materials will be borne by the Association.
- 2.3 The Board and the Association hereby agree that each teacher has the right to organize, join and support the Association for the purposes of engaging in collective bargaining and other activities for mutual benefit or to refrain from such activity. The Board and the Association agree that they shall not interfere with, restrain, or coerce any teacher in the exercise of any rights covered under Title 21, Chapter 22 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated. The Board agrees it shall not discriminate against any teacher with respect to salary or any other terms or conditions of employment by reason of his/her membership in the Association or its affiliates.
- 2.4 Any duly authorized Association representatives shall be permitted to conduct and transact official business of the Association on school property, provided that this does not interrupt or interfere with the assigned duties or school programs and operations. Any unauthorized Association representative shall first report to the Principal or his/her authorized designee to receive permission for the same.
- 2.5 The Association shall have the right to use the teachers' workroom/lounge for the posting of notice of its activities and matters of Association concern provided that no matter is derogatory to any school personnel or to the Board. The Association may use the mailboxes for communication to teachers. The Association may use the District's network for email communications and internet service.
- 2.6 The Association's exercise of any retained right or function in a particular manner shall not preclude the Association from exercising the same right or function in any other manner that does not violate the express written terms of this Agreement. The Association's failure to

exercise any right or function reserved to it shall not be deemed a waiver of its right to exercise such right or function at any future time.

## 2.7 Dues Deduction:

The Board agrees to deduct from each teacher's salary dues for the Association upon said teacher's initial membership therein. Such authorization will be voluntary and in writing. The Board will transmit quarterly said monies deducted to the Treasurer of the Association. Dues will automatically continue to be deducted from a teacher's salary unless the teacher directs the Association and the Board (through the Superintendent), in writing, between June1 and June 15 of the preceding year, to stop making dues deductions. By July 1 of each school year, the Association shall provide the business office with the dollar amount of the Association dues. The deadline for submitting payroll deduction authorizations for teachers new to the District or teachers newly electing to join the Association is December 1. Thereafter, any teacher authorizations for a dues deduction shall be paid in a lump sum.

## Responsibilities:

By September 1, the Board shall provide the Association a list of all teachers covered under the collective bargaining agreement, and thereafter upon request of the Association, but not more than once per quarter. It is the Association's responsibility to provide the signed authorization to the Board for payroll deduction by October 1 for new teachers. The Board is not responsible for obtaining or counseling teachers about joining or not joining the Association. The only duty of the Board is to collect the dues once a payroll authorization is received, signed by the teacher. It is up to the Association to collect the dues from those teachers who do not authorize payroll deduction.

It is the responsibility of the Association to establish said dues annually in accordance with State and/or Federal law.

## Reporting, Collection and Distribution of Fees:

The Association shall provide the Business Office authorizations for dues deductions covered under this paragraph, by October 1 of the contract year. The remaining process, rules and forms shall be consistent with Association dues provisions.

## **Article 3 Board Rights**

## 3.1 Management Rights Clause:

The Board retains all of the rights and functions necessary to determine the educational policies of the District and to effectively manage the District except to the extent that they are expressly and specifically modified by the express written terms of this Agreement.

The Board's exercise of any retained right or function in a particular manner shall not preclude the Board from exercising the same right or function in any other manner that does not violate the express written terms of this Agreement. The Board's failure to exercise any right or

function reserved to it shall not be deemed a waiver of its right to exercise such right or function at any future time.

## **Article 4 Teacher Rights**

- 4.1 The Board and the Association agree that there will be no discrimination in the hiring, training, assignments, promotion, transfer or discipline of teachers, or in application or administration of this Agreement, or any other rule, regulation or policy relating to the terms and conditions of teacher employment on the basis of race, creed, color, religion, national origin, sex, domicile, age or marital status or any other legally protected status under state or federal law. No grievance involving an alleged violation of this provision may proceed beyond Step 3 of the grievance procedure.
- Any formal complaint regarding a teacher made to any member of the administration by any parent, student or other person which might lead to adverse action against a teacher or used in an evaluation shall be reduced to writing and brought to the attention of the teacher in a timely fashion. Such complaints will be investigated prior to any disciplinary or other adverse action by the administration or the Board, or any evaluation containing reference to the complaint. The teacher will be given an opportunity to respond to and/or rebut such complaint. The Superintendent may place a teacher on administrative leave, with full pay and benefits, during any period of investigation related to a complaint against a teacher.
- 4.3 Whenever any teacher is required to appear before the Principal, Superintendent or School Board, concerning any matter which may adversely affect the continued employment of the teacher or which could result in disciplinary action, he/she is entitled to have union representation of the teacher's choosing at any meeting with the Principal, Superintendent or School Board to advise him/her during such meeting or interview. Teachers shall be advised of the nature of such a meeting at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance. When an emergency meeting is called, the teacher shall present himself/herself as soon as possible, but shall be entitled to meet with his/her representative(s) for a maximum of thirty (30) minutes prior to such meeting.
- 4.4 Except for probationary teachers and those hired pursuant to Article 6.4 of this Agreement, no teacher shall have his/her contract non-renewed or be disciplined, suspended or dismissed, without just and sufficient cause. Any suspension of a teacher will be with pay pending final Board action. The non-renewal of a teacher's contract or the suspension and dismissal of a teacher during a school year may only be appealed by the teacher by following the procedures outlined in 16 V.S.A. § 1752, or the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement. The election of one method of appeal shall preclude the other.

## 4.5 **Probationary Teachers:**

During the first two years of a teacher's employment by the Board, the teacher shall be considered to be on probation. A probationary teacher will be assigned a mentor during the 1st

year through the mentorship program once it has been established. During this period of probation, a Board decision to dismiss or not offer a renewal contract to the teacher shall be final and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure of this Agreement. If the Board decides not to renew the teacher's contract for the next school year, the teacher will be notified on or before April 15. Two (2)written evaluations are required per year but such observations and evaluations are not subject to the grievance/arbitration provisions of this Agreement. One evaluation shall take place between October 1 and December 20 and one evaluation shall occur between January 1 and March 30. One of the 2 evaluations must be a formal evaluation (announced pre-conference/post conference) the remaining evaluation may be unannounced, followed by a post conference meeting. Notwithstanding the above, the Association may grieve the failure of the Board to comply with the timelines in this provision. No waiver of statutory rights is intended by this provision.

Each newly employed Teacher to the Caledonia Central SU will be assigned a mentor during a teacher's first year of the probationary period as outlined in Article 4.5.

- 4.6 No material derogatory to a teacher's conduct, service, character or personality will be placed in the teacher's personnel file unless the teacher has had an opportunity to review the material.
  The teacher will acknowledge that he/she has had the opportunity to review the material by affixing his/her signature to the copy to be filed. Such signature in no way indicates agreement with the contents of the material. The teacher may submit a written answer to such material, and the answer will be placed in the personnel file.
- 4.7 A teacher shall have the right, during regular office hours, by appointment, to periodically review his/her personnel file and to receive a copy of any documents contained herein except for employment references. Materials may be removed by mutual agreement between the teacher and the Superintendent. A teacher will have the right to indicate those document(s) and/or materials in his/her file, which he/she believes to be obsolete or otherwise inappropriate for retention. Said document(s) will be reviewed by the Superintendent and if he/she agrees, the document(s) will be destroyed. The decision of the Superintendent will be final.
- 4.8 There shall be only one official personnel file, and that file shall be kept in the central administrative office. All items that are evaluative in nature which are placed in the personnel file must be signed by the teacher.
- 4.9 All personal references, letters of recommendation and related materials used in the initial hiring of a teacher shall be kept confidential, shall not be shared with the teacher and shall not be a part of the personnel file.
- 4.10 Prior to the filling of any teaching position in a District or the Supervisory Union, a written notification of the vacancy will be posted in each school building and posted electronically on the Supervisory Union's website and sent in an email to all CCSU employees. Such notification will be made in order to provide interested persons time to apply for such positions.

- 4.11 Teachers will not be required to transport students as a condition of employment.
- 4.12 In the event that a Teacher is assigned the task of the personal care of a student; i.e. toileting, changing clothes, etc., the Administration shall provide that no teacher shall perform these duties without having another employee present.
- 4.13 Hepatitis B immunizations shall be made available to all teachers at no cost to the teacher. The cost shall be paid by the District if it is denied by private insurance. Teachers shall submit a claim to their insurance and if denied, the Board will pay the cost.
- 4.14 Only trained staff are expected to conduct bomb searches in the building. Teachers are trained in emergency evacuation procedures (e.g. ALICE, Active Shooter) and are expected to follow appropriate evacuation protocols in compliance with their training. Any newly hired teacher will be provided with the appropriate training for any and all safety and evacuation protocols in effect at their school.

## 4.15 Safe Work Environment:

No teacher is required to undertake work with students which would expose the teacher or others to a reasonably foreseeable risk of harm. In the event a teacher feels threatened by a student, parent, guardian or other employee, a plan of action to ensure a safe environment will be created by the teacher, another teacher and an administrator. In the event that a teacher's personal property is damaged or destroyed through the act of a student, the District will replace or reimburse the teacher for the damaged or destroyed property.

## 4.16 Student Needs:

- A. Teachers will have available to them training to address safety and evacuation demands.
- B. Building principals and other administrators will work with teachers on class planning requirements. Placement decisions for students covered by IEP's and/or section 504 plans will comply with applicable Federal and State law and regulations. Such planning requirements will give appropriate consideration to class size, distribution of students with special needs, and availability of support staff including but not necessarily limited to, resource teachers, appropriate therapeutic services and paraeducator assistance. The administration will make reasonable attempts to solicit input from teachers, guidance counselors, and special educators regarding the placement of students with special needs.
- C. Daily personal care of students with special physical or medical needs, including but not limited to, tracheotomy, colostomy, respiratory conditions and incontinence will not be the responsibility of the classroom teachers. Teachers are not obligated to dispense medication to students.
- 4.17 No teacher shall participate in any evaluative capacity regarding any other teacher, including but not limited to providing the school district any documents, written or oral statements, regarding any aspect of an assigned teacher's work.

## **Article 5 Grievance Procedure**

## 5.1 Definitions

- a. A "grievance" is a claim by a teacher(s) or the Association that there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or a misapplication of the terms of this Agreement.
- b. A "grievant" is the person or persons making the claim.
- c. For the purpose of this Article, all "days" will consist of those days when school is in session (meaning students are in attendance). When a grievance is filed after June 1 and on or before September 1, all days will consist of weekdays (meaning Monday through Friday), exclusive of legal holidays as defined by Chapter 7 of 1 V.S.A. Time periods specified in this procedure may be extended by mutual agreement in writing between the grievant or his/her representative and the appropriate administrative official.
- d. By mutual agreement, in writing, between the grievant or his/her representative and the appropriate administrative official, the grievance may be "passed through" to the next step for original filing.

## 5.2 Rights of the Representation

The grievant will, at all steps in the formal grievance procedure, be entitled to be represented by the Association or by such other representative as he/she may choose, except that at no time will the grievant be represented by an administrative official of the school district.

## 5.3 Time Limit

No grievance will be valid unless it is submitted pursuant to Section 6.4 hereof, within twenty (20) days of the date the grievant knew of the occurrence which gave rise to the grievance and/or when the party was made aware of the incident.

The time limit for grieving the incident begins within three (3) days of the time the administration has acknowledged awareness of an incident that potentially could lead to a grievance claim.

## 5.4 Procedure

The parties acknowledge that it is usually most desirable for an employee and his/her immediately involved supervisor to resolve problems through free and informal communications. When requested by the teacher, the Association representative may intervene to assist in the resolution at this informal level. The immediately involved supervisor will give his/her answer within two (2) days following a meeting at this level. However, should such informal processes fail to satisfy the teacher, or the Association if a class grievance, then the grievance will be reduced to writing and the grievance processed as follows:

Step 1 – Grievant may forward a written copy of the grievance to the building Principal, indicating the nature of the grievance and stating the redress sought. A copy thereof will, at the same time, be filed with the Superintendent and the Association. The Principal will arrange for a meeting with the grievant and/or his/her representative(s) to take place within ten (10) days of his/her receipt of the appeal. Each party will have the right to include in its representation such witnesses and counselors as it deems necessary to develop facts pertinent to the grievance.

The Principal will, within five (5) days following this meeting, give his/her written decision, copies of which will be given to the grievant, the Superintendent and the Association. Such written answer will include the reason(s) upon which the decision was based.

Step 2 – If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the grievant may, within five (5) days of receipt of the Principal's written response, forward the grievance in writing to the Superintendent of Schools, together with written reason(s) for dissatisfaction with the decision of the Principal and stating the redress sought.

The Superintendent will arrange for a meeting with the grievant and/or his/her representative(s) to take place within ten (10) days of his/her receipt of the appeal. Each party will have the right to include in its representation such witnesses and counselors as it deems necessary to develop facts pertinent to the grievance.

The Superintendent will, within five (5) days of this hearing, give his/her written decision, copies of which will be given to the grievant and the Association. Such written answer will include the reason(s) upon which the decision is based.

## Step 3 -

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 2 the matter may revert to an informal process, if both parties agree, in order to find an amicable solution. The time allowed for these informal talks will be ten (10) days from the date of the Superintendent's response or the grievant may, within ten (10) days of receipt of the Superintendent's written response, forward the grievance in writing to the Chairperson of the Board of School Directors, together with written reason(s) for dissatisfaction with the decision of the Superintendent, stating the redress sought.

The Superintendent will arrange for a meeting with the grievant and the Board to take place within twenty (20) days of the Board's receipt of the appeal. Such meeting will be either an open meeting or executive session, at the option of the grievant. Each party will have the right to include in its representation such witnesses and counselors as it deems necessary to develop facts pertinent to the grievance. The Board may deliberate in executive session if it wishes, with its decision to be made in open session. The Board will, within ten (10) days of this hearing, give its written decision, copies of which will be given to the grievant and the Association. Such written answer will include the reason(s) upon which the decision is based.

## Step 4 -

- a. If the grievance is not resolved at Step 3, the matter may revert to an informal process, if both parties agree, in order to find an amicable solution. The time allowed for these informal talks will be twenty (20) days from the date of the Board's response, or
- b. The Association may, within twenty (20) days of receipt of the Board's written response, demand final and binding arbitration. Such demand will be in writing and will be delivered by certified mail to the Superintendent of Schools. The arbitrator will be determined by mutual agreement between the Board or its designated representative and the Association or its designated representative. Should the parties be unable to agree upon an arbitrator within ten (10) days after the date of request, such grievance may be referred to the American Arbitration Association (AAA) under its Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules. If the demand for arbitration is not filed within the twenty (20) days, the grievance will be deemed withdrawn.
- 5.5 Relating to matters of arbitration, and during the period of time when arbitration is taking place, neither the Board nor the grievant will unilaterally issue any press releases. The decision of the arbitrator will be final and binding.
- The expenses for the arbitrator's service will be borne equally by the Board and the Association. However, each party will be responsible for compensating its own representative and witnesses. If either party desires a verbatim record to be made, it pays for such record. Should both parties desire such record, then the cost of the two (2) transcripts will be divided equally between parties.
- 5.7 The arbitrator's authority will be limited to interpreting and applying the provisions of this Agreement and he/she will have no power to add to or subtract from, alter, or modify any of the said provisions.
- 5.8 The Board acknowledges the right of the Association's grievance representative to participate in the processing of the grievance at any level and no teacher will be required to discuss any grievance if the Association's representative is not present.
- 5.9 No reprisals of any kind will be taken against any teacher because of his/her participation in this grievance procedure.
- 5.10 The parties to this contract will cooperate in the investigation of any grievance and either party will provide to the other such available information to it as is requested for the processing of any grievance. Should the presentation or hearing of a grievance at any level require that any teacher and/or Association representative be released from his/her regular assignment in order to represent or be available as a probable witness, he/she will be released without loss of pay or benefits.

- 5.11 Failure of the appropriate administrative body to render a written decision within the specified time period will permit the grievant to appeal the grievance to the next step. Failure by the grievant to adhere to the provisions of this procedure within the specified time periods will render the grievance null and void.
- 5.12 All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the personnel file of the participant.
- 5.13 A grievance may be withdrawn or settled at any level prior to an arbitration award without establishing precedent.
- 5.14 Class grievances involving an administrator above the building level may be filed by the Association at Step 3.

## **Article 6 Individual Teacher Contracts**

- 6.1 The Board agrees to hire licensed teachers in accordance with the regulations of the Vermont Agency of Education. The terms and conditions of employment of all teachers employed by the Board will be set forth in written contracts in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Laws of the State of Vermont.
- The Board shall issue a contract of employment annually to those teachers whom it intends to re-employ. Contracts shall be issued on or before April 15 of each year. A contract offer issued to a teacher shall be signed by the teacher and returned to the Superintendent or the Principal no later than May 15; the failure to do so shall be deemed a refusal of the contract offer and the position shall be declared vacant. The Superintendent in consultation with the building administrator may grant an extension not to exceed two weeks. A contract of employment issued by the Board and signed by a teacher shall be null and void if, by July 1, the teacher fails to provide the Superintendent a copy of a valid Vermont educator license for his/her assignment for the school year, or written verification from the CCSU local Standards Board or the Vermont Agency of Education that all of the requirements of licensure have been fully met and the license is pending before the department.

In the event the Board and the Association have not ratified a successor to this Agreement by April 15, individual contracts will be issued which reflect the teacher's next step of the existing salary (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield). A teacher shall return a signed copy of the contract no later than May 15; the failure to do so shall be deemed a refusal of the contract offer and the position shall be declared vacant. Contracts issued under this paragraph shall be adjusted after the successor to this Agreement is ratified to reflect the terms of said successor Agreement.

6.2A **(Cabot & Twinfield Only)** The Board will offer a contract for continued employment to the teacher on or before April 15th unless the teacher has been notified of contract non-renewal or

lay off. A teacher receiving a contract will indicate acceptance of the offer by signing and returning the contract by May 15. If the contract is issued after April 15, the teacher will indicate acceptance of the offer by signing and returning the contract within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of issuance. Failure of the teacher to respond may, at the option of the Board, be accepted as conclusive evidence of non-acceptance of the offer, and in such instance the job will be considered vacant. A teacher may request an extension of time for signing and returning said contact, but such request will be in writing and written approval of the Superintendent will be required.

- 6.3 As a condition of employment, each teacher shall have a signed individual contract which shall specify the teacher's annual salary, position on the salary schedule, licensure endorsement and status, percentage of full-time employment, the school, subject and/or grade level he/she will be assigned. Teacher individual contracts will set forth elementary or secondary assignment elementary grade level, or secondary subject areas, as well as interventionist title with label, generalist, reading or math, with content subject and grade span. If a change in teaching assignment for the forthcoming school year is made by administration before August 1st, the affected teacher will be notified in writing by administration within 48 hours of the decision. If a change in assignment is to be made on or after August 1st, the transfer may be made only in the case of any unforeseen emergency such as the death of an employee or other extraordinary circumstance, in consultation with the teacher. This teacher would not follow the evaluation process as defined in the CBA 7.5, but would still create goals and meet with the principal, the building administrator will provide support systems for the teacher affected by this unforeseen emergency. Once the emergency situation has been resolved the teacher will be given the option to return to their original position. In the event the teacher returns to their original position during the same school year, the building administrator, in consultation with the teacher, will discuss an appropriate time and procedure for evaluation.
- 6.4 One Year Non-Renewable Contracts: The Board shall have the right to issue a non-renewable contract for a period of one (1) year or less which expressly eliminates the teacher's right of contract renewal and layoff and recall to a teacher who:
  - A. Replaces a teacher who has terminated his/her contract for the next school year after June 1, or
  - B. Replaces a teacher who is granted a leave of absence by the Board, or
  - C. Replaces a teacher who has resigned or is terminated during a school year.

If a teacher issued a non-renewable contract is hired as a teacher, on a teacher's salary, for the year following his/her non-renewable contract period, the time served on such a contract will count towards the teacher's probationary period and seniority.

6.5 Provisional/Emergency License:

On or before April 1st of the year in which his/her temporary license (e.g., provisional or

emergency) expires, a teacher holding a temporary license shall provide proof to the Superintendent that he/she has either (A) been issued either a Level I or Level II license for the next school year, or (B) that he/she is scheduled to complete all requirements for such license by August 1st. If the teacher presents proof of Option (B) herein, on or before August 1st the teacher must provide the Superintendent written verification from the Vermont Department of Education that the teacher has satisfied all licensure requirements.

- 6.6 Electronic spreadsheets of individual teachers' salaries, positions, a list of teachers' health and dental insurance plans, seniority, step/column placement, date of hire, as well as each teacher's licensing status will be sent to the Association no later than October 1st or within one month of employment, whichever date is later.
- 6.7 The Board will employ and assign teachers in accordance with all applicable laws, regulations and teaching licenses.

## 6.8 Placement of New Teachers:

All newly employed and presently employed teachers will be placed on the salary schedule in accordance with their educational and experience levels, as recommended by the Superintendent. Newly hired special education teachers will be placed on the salary schedule based on the school of assignment: Danville, Peacham or Caledonia Cooperative School District will be placed on the Caledonia Central Education Association salary schedule and Cabot/Twinfield will be placed on the Twinfield salary schedule. However, the Superintendent may place a newly employed teacher on a step no higher than the actual years of teaching experience following consultation with the Association. No newly hired teacher will be placed on a step which is higher than a current teacher with the same education and teaching experience. The Superintendent may grant initial salary credit for prior related work experience. Once placed on the salary schedule a teacher will move in accordance with the provisions of the negotiated agreement.

Transition: Recognizing that this Agreement implements restructured salary schedules resulting in discrepancies between teacher step placement and years of experience, the Board and the Association agree that during the term of this Agreement new hires will be placed on the step that matches their years of experience and educational level as determined by the Superintendent regardless of the salary schedule placement of existing teachers.

## 6.9 Critical Shortage area:

The respective School Board shall be authorized to hire teachers who are certified to teach in an identified critical shortage area, up to two (2) steps above the teachers identified years of service in order to fill the critical shortage need. The school board or designee will notify the Association of such an event.

## **Article 7 Teacher Evaluation**

- 7.1 Purpose: The Teaching Evaluation System exists primarily for the growth and development of effective teaching practice in order to improve student performance. Both teachers and administrators shall work cooperatively towards this purpose.
- 7.2 Model: The Teaching Evaluation System used shall be consistent with the most recently adopted model(s) of the District. On or before October 15 of each school year, the administration shall make available to each teacher a copy of the evaluation criteria and instrument to be used during that school year. Copies of the evaluation criteria and instrument may be posted electronically. The parties agree that changes will be developed by a joint committee of teachers across CCSU and appointed by the respective Associations, along with members of the administration appointed by the Superintendent. Any changes to the evaluation system will be subject to approval by the Caledonia Central Supervisory Union Board. In the event the District changes the criteria for evaluation after the start of the school year, the evaluation criteria that were in effect at the beginning of the school year will remain in effect until the new school year begins.
- 7.3 Observation: All monitoring or observation of the work performance of a teacher will be conducted by a licensed administrator openly and with the full knowledge of the teacher. It is the administration's duty to supervise the work of teachers on a continuing basis and to act upon the results of such supervision.
- 7.4 Opportunity to Review and Respond: Nothing contained within the provisions of this article shall mandate the evaluation of any teacher during any given school year. It is understood, however, that no formal evaluation report concerning a teacher's performance shall be placed in the teacher's personnel file unless the teacher has an opportunity to review the material as specified in Article 7.5. The teacher shall be entitled to attach a written response or rebuttal to the evaluative report.
- 7.5 The teacher and the building administrator or direct supervisor shall sign the official school copy (hard) of the evaluation report when completed, indicating that the report has been seen by the teacher and discussed with the building administrator(s) or direct supervisor, and the teacher shall receive a (hard) copy prior to being placed in the teacher's personnel file. Such signatures by the teacher shall not be construed to indicate either agreement or disagreement with the contents of the evaluation report. No teacher will be required to sign a blank or incomplete evaluation form. The building administrator or direct supervisor shall not leave any section of the evaluation form incomplete without documenting that a section was not observed during that observation.
- 7.6 A teacher may be placed on a corrective action plan if the teacher has not met the proficient level of performance after two (2) informal observations and/or one (1) formal observation. If a teacher is placed upon a corrective action plan, it shall include an assessment of the skill to be

improved, defined objectives for improvement and recognize, as appropriate, the benefits of focusing the plan on a limited number of skills and objectives for improvement. The administrator will coordinate and supervise support to assist the teacher in achieving the levels of identified skills and will schedule ongoing meetings to discuss progress. The administrator will determine the level of support required and respond accordingly. This may not be limited to a mentor or coach.

## **Article 8 Mentoring**

## 8.1 Purpose:

It is recognized that the induction of new teachers through a formalized mentoring program will help promote excellence in teaching and improve student achievement at schools in the Caledonia Central Supervisory Union. The purpose of the mentoring program is to build a supportive environment for teachers new to an area or assignment and teachers new to CCSU. The District will provide two years of mentoring to novice teachers and up to two years as needed for experienced teachers new to CCSU or to their assignment.

## 8.2 Definition:

A mentor teacher shall be defined as an experienced teacher of at least five (5) years, who is currently teaching in the CCSU, not currently under a corrective action, and who has successfully completed the VTNEA Mentor Coaching and Training for Educators program (or another third party administered program when agreed upon by both the Board and the Association). A novice teacher is defined as a new teacher on a provisional or level 1 license.

## 8.3 Selection:

Participation as a mentor teacher shall be voluntary. The mentor teacher positions shall be posted in accordance with Article 4.11 of the collective bargaining agreement on an annual basis and teacher may apply for these positions. The mentor coordinator or designee will notify the Association of those hired to be a mentor teacher. Teachers assigned to mentor a teacher employed for part of a year will be paid on a prorated basis commensurate with the employment time of the mentored teacher.

## 8.4 Confidentiality:

No teacher, acting as a mentor shall participate in any evaluative capacity regarding any assigned teacher, or be called as a witness to the same, in any board or administrative hearing. Mentors will follow all state and educational laws.

## 8.5 Training:

Mentor teachers shall be provided training in the process of teacher mentoring and receive a stipend of one hundred dollars (\$100) per day of training.

## 8.6 Compensation:

The Board and the Association recognize that the induction of new teachers through a formal mentoring program will help to promote excellence in teaching and improve student

achievement. The focus of this program will be to build a supportive environment for new teachers within the context of school improvement. The Board agrees to provide training to teacher mentors. Teachers assigned as mentors shall be paid a stipend at \$1,500 for the first year. If a second year of mentoring is required by the building administrator or direct supervisor, the mentor shall be paid \$1,250. Compensation will be distributed separately from payroll, and will be distributed in December and June.

## 8.6A Mentoring (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

Mentors will be provided for teachers who are new to the profession for 2 years, teachers who are new to the district for 1 year, teachers who have transferred to an area they were not teaching the previous year (see section 21.1 F) for 1 year, and to teachers in focused assistance, if desired, and when assigned by the administration.

The stipend for mentors will be \$1,000 for a full year for work performed outside of the contracted school day. If mentoring is initiated after the beginning of the year, the number of hours will be negotiated and the stipend prorated accordingly. Mentors will work no more than 60 hours per year. Additional hours may be added by the administration with agreement by the mentor with the stipend pro-rated for the time..

Criteria for selection, training, and expectations for mentors will be developed by a joint committee made up of Association members and administrators. This Committee shall make recommendations to the CCSU for the purpose of improving/modifying the current system.

## **Article 9 Teaching Conditions**

- 9.1 For the purpose of this Agreement the period of teaching service will not exceed one hundred eighty-five (185) contracted days. One hundred seventy-five (175) days will be student days and ten (10) will be in-service days. The ten in-service days will be distributed as follows:
  - Three (3) days at the beginning of the year, one (1), one of which will be scheduled by the Superintendent for Supervisory-wide in-service and two (2) of which will be scheduled by the Principal for school-year preparation at each school. One of these two must be a classroom/workspace preparation day;
  - Two (2) days will be parent teacher conference days.
  - Three (3) days will be full day in-service days. Two (2) of these days are designated for SU-wide professional development and one (1) will be scheduled at the discretion of individual building Principals. All professional development will be planned with input from the teachers through building-level leadership teams or other such arrangements;
  - Two (2) days will follow the last student day of the school year. One day will be
    designated for summer classroom space preparations and the second will be
    considered a "Flex Day". The intent of a Flex Day is to give credit for activities that
    occur outside regular school hours (e.g. parent meetings, open house) that are not
    otherwise compensated in Article 10.6. Flex activities must be preapproved by the
    Principal.

- 9.2 Part-time teacher responsibilities regarding such issues as arrival/departure times, planning periods, in-service attendance, teacher meetings, leaves, duties, etc. will be worked out by the teacher and the appropriate administrator to reflect the percentage of the contract by which the part-time teacher is employed.
- 9.3 No teacher will be required to attend any meeting, function or project which conflicts with vacation schedules during the school calendar year. If teachers have a conflict or emergency they will convey that to their administrator. No teacher will be disciplined or reprimanded for not attending meetings, functions or projects beyond their contracted working hours.
- 9.4 The core teacher work day will be no longer than eight (8) consecutive hours, with the express understanding that professional responsibilities and obligations must be satisfied. It is understood that it is the teacher's professional responsibility to meet with parents/guardians beyond the school day when the need arises. On Fridays and the day preceding any school vacation, teachers will be permitted to leave once the school buses busses have departed, except it is recognized that, when necessary, teachers may be required to provide or ensure after school supervision for students.
- 9.4 A (Cabot & Twinfield Only) If travel during the school day is necessary, time will be arranged as part of the teacher's schedule. Travel time during the school day will exclude duty-free lunch, planning time and collaborative time. Travel during the school day is reimbursable.
- 9.4 B (Cabot & Twinfield Only) CCSU agrees to maintain the current school assignments for the majority of each current employee's time and reserves the right to do temporary or long term reassignments to the other school for evaluations, services or consultation, up to eight (8) hours per week, based on identified student need. This shall not be interpreted to negate the lawful authority of a Board to reduce the professional staff consistent with the provisions of Article 21, or to interfere with the right of the administration to hire and assign professional special education staff hired by CCSU to work as needed within the CCSU.
- 9.5 (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield) Teachers who are subject to a classroom change will receive \$150 (one hundred fifty) dollars per day, maximum of 2 days, to pack up the classroom and to unpack and setup the new classroom, provided such hours are worked outside the contracted hours.
- 9.6 (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield) All special education teachers may need to work up to five (5) additional days and secondary guidance counselor may need to work up to ten (10) additional days during the summer upon the request and approval of the special education director or principal to complete IEPs, evaluations, Medicaid recordkeeping, to participate in special education meetings, closing up files, recommendations for post-secondary education, etc. A predetermined date and time will be agreed upon between the secondary guidance counselor, special education teacher, special education director or building administrator for

summer work. Additional days worked will be paid at the per diem rate based on the teacher's salary during the work year in which the work is required.

- 9.7 (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield) Teachers shall not be required to make up snow days unless the make-up days are scheduled as teaching days.
- 9.8 (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield) When early dismissal of students is required because of emergency conditions in which the safety of the teacher is also involved, including but not limited to weather, all teachers will be dismissed as soon as all students for whom they are responsible have been dismissed from the school.
- 9.9 **(Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)** In regard to delayed opening, the work of the teacher will begin fifteen (15) minutes before the student starting time.
- 9.10 (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield) Each teacher will have the equivalent of no less than 45 continuous minutes, per teaching day, of planning period per day and/or 225 total minutes per week excluding lunch. Planning time is teacher directed time that aids in their teaching, planning and preparation for their students' needs.

All efforts should be made to avoid IEP/504/Est meetings and other meetings that are not directly linked to teacher preparation and planning during this time.

Note: Planning time may be increased by building administration based on increased duties and assignments.

9.11 (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield) Each teacher will be given a daily, duty-free thirty (30) minute lunch, during the hours that lunch is being served in food services. Part-time teachers will have a duty-free lunch in the amount of time as worked out with the building administrator.

## 9.12 In Service:

In service is understood to include, but is not limited to, professional work time in the workplace; e.g. working on curriculum, teaming, communications, portfolios, Professional Learning Communities, etc. Such days will not be held any sooner than five (5) days immediately preceding the first regularly scheduled student day of the school year, nor later than two (2) days immediately following the last regularly scheduled student day for the school year. Such days may be scheduled during the school year, but shall not include school holidays or weekends (Saturday and Sunday).

## 9.12A Cabot & Twinfield Only (9.12A & 9.12B)

Teachers will be compensated at a per diem rate of (1/185 of their annual salary) for his/her participation in work initiated or required by the administration, or for which a teacher is approved by the administration with prior written approval, and which is done outside of time provided in this contract. This includes but is not limited to the following: committees, service projects, summer work, Standards-Based Report Cards, curriculum development, tutoring,

student services. This excludes any coursework, workshops, or any other training which qualifies for reimbursement.

This does not include the time that mentees spend with their mentors or attending required Mentee meetings established by the CCSU.

First year teachers will be expected to participate in the school's orientation program before the start of school and will be paid on a per diem rate for orientation days. Mentees will be expected to attend Mentee Meetings and meet with their mentors as a professional obligation and condition of employment in the years in which mentoring is required by law.

9.12B The teaching day will begin no earlier than 7:30 am and extend no later than 3:00 pm.

- All teachers will have a duty-free lunch that lasts no less than 20 consecutive minutes.
- All teachers will have no less than 40 minutes of preparation time daily.
- All teachers will have a minimum of 150 minutes of collaborative planning time weekly.

CABOT ONLY: The teaching day will begin no earlier than 7:30 a.m. and extend no later than 4:00 p.m.

All teachers will have a duty-free lunch that lasts no less than 30 collective minutes.

The work week will be no greater than 37.5 hours per week. The daily schedule is set by the building administrator and teacher leadership.

All teachers will have no less than 40 minutes of preparation time daily. All teachers will have a minimum of 225 minutes of collaborative planning time weekly.

## **Cabot & Twinfield Only (9.13 – 9.19)**

9.13 Professional Development Committee

The purpose of the Professional Development Committee will be to identify professional development needs within the supervisory union with regular input from teachers to inform their decisions, to plan ways to increase student learning, to coordinate with the other school's professional development committee and to identify and plan supervisory union-wide professional development activities. The Committee will make recommendations to the Superintendent in the development of the in-service calendar.

Method of operation: The Chair of the Committee will be a teacher. The Chair, with input from the other members of the Committee, will prepare the agenda and facilitate the meeting. In the absence of the Chair an alternate will be designated. The Committee will meet no less than once per month during the school year. The Committee will make decisions by consensus. Minutes will be kept for each meeting, posted in the school, provided to the Superintendent and made available on request to any member of the faculty, Board or community.

Each school's Professional Development Committee will be composed of four teacher representatives from across the school, a building administrator and representative from the Superintendent's office. Teacher representatives will be chosen through a collaborative process by the Association and administration.

9.14 The Principal and/or his/her designee will develop a duty supervision schedule in cooperation with teacher representatives for the up-coming school year that will provide adequate and appropriate recess supervision.

## 9.15 Scheduling Meetings

The administration and/or the special education department will use the following priority list to arrange meetings:

- a. First, an attempt will be made to schedule a meeting during the 45-minute common planning time each morning.
- b. Second, an attempt will be made to schedule a meeting during the teacher's individual planning time.
- c. Third, attempts will be made to schedule during the school day with appropriate coverage arranged by the administration.
- d. Last, the meeting may be scheduled after school with at least one week's notice by the administration. After school meetings will have a clearly stated agenda and a clearly designated ending time.

The expectation is that teachers will attend meetings. If a teacher is unable to attend a scheduled meeting, the teacher will notify the administration immediately of the reason for his/her inability to attend. A teacher may be excused through procedures set forth in Vermont State rule 2363.4 (c) (1) and (2).

- 9.16 The administration will make every attempt to set schedules for each school year in the spring. If the proposed schedule changes, teachers will be notified immediately of the changes in order to allow them to prepare classes for those changes. If the scheduling change significantly impacts the curriculum (i.e. change in the number of days a class is held, change in which semester/trimester a class occurs), every attempt will be made to include the teacher in the discussion prior to any change. If the teacher is informed of a change in schedule that significantly impacts curriculum less than two (2) weeks before the beginning of the school year or during the school year, the teacher will be eligible for payment as provided in Section 12.3.
- 9.17 In cases of emergency, the health, safety or well-being of students is the primary responsibility of teachers, and they will act accordingly. Teachers, except for those whose job responsibilities require servicing the health and medical needs of students, will not be required to administer medicine or to perform non-emergency medical or health procedures for students.

- 9.18 Teachers will immediately report to the principal or other supervisor cases of assault suffered by them, or instances of any physical altercation of any sort in which they may be involved, which relates in any way to their employment. Such notification will immediately be forwarded to the Superintendent, who will comply with any reasonable request from the teacher for information in the possession of the Superintendent relating to the incident or the person or persons involved, except such information, the dissemination of which is restricted by law. The Principal will act in an appropriate manner as a liaison among the teacher, police, and the courts. Nothing in this provision, however, will be construed to abridge the right of a teacher to seek redress at law, or to allow abridgement of the right to privacy of a juvenile as defined by law.
- 9.19 The Board will provide liability insurance and coverage for teachers in accordance with the provisions of VSA § 1756.
- 9.20 The Association may appoint a committee not to exceed three (3) teachers to provide input to the Superintendent regarding development of the school calendar. Input may be provided in written or oral form. If a meeting is desired, the Association will advise the Superintendent not later than December 1 of the preceding school year so that the meeting may be scheduled in a timely manner.

## **Article 10 Salary and Compensation**

10.1 Total new money (Step movement, base adjustment and off-step adjustment) to be distributed to existing Salary Schedules for CCEA, Twinfield, and Cabot by agreement of the parties (Board and Associations). All employees are placed on these salary schedules at the higher of either a) correct column for education and row for years of experience or b) 3%.

FY22 - 4% FY23 - 5.75% FY24 - 5.75%

#### 10.2 Column Movement:

A teacher will give written notice to the Superintendent prior to December 1st that a change from one column to another on the salary schedule is pending for that teacher during the ensuing contract year. Horizontal advancement from one column to another on the salary schedule will occur because of increased educational background. Teachers will be placed on the new column on a step equivalent to their years of experience. This advancement will be effective at the first pay period in a contract year or on the pay date following the date of receipt by the Superintendent of a transcript from a recognized institution. Credits for horizontal movement on the salary schedule will be granted for courses approved by the building administrator or direct supervisor, based on the same criteria as for tuition reimbursement.

10.2A (Cabot & Twinfield Only) Credits for horizontal movement on the salary schedule will be granted as follows:

- a. Only those courses meeting the criteria for prepayment/reimbursement or approved in advance by the Superintendent and are earned at an accredited college or university will be counted for horizontal movement on the salary schedule.
- b. To move horizontally on the salary schedule, a teacher must provide the Superintendent written notice to change columns not later than November 15 of the current school year. If evidence thereof is available, it will be supplied with said notice; if not it will be given to the Superintendent on or before November 1st of the next school year. Payment for horizontal movement will then be retroactive to the first pay period of the next school year.
- c. A teacher will advance beyond the Master column based on graduate level credits earned following attainment of his/her Master's degree.
- d. Horizontal movement will occur at the beginning of a school year and not after a school year has begun except as noted in Section 15.4(2). Teachers who are currently placed in the "M" column with B45 and do not yet have a Master's degree will be "grandfathered" and allowed to stay in that column until the teacher achieves a Master's degree and 15 credits.

## 10.3 Step Movement:

Any teacher actively employed for ninety (90) days or more during any school year will be given full credit for one (1) year of service towards the next vertical step on the salary schedule for the following year.

Any permanent part-time teacher actively employed for ninety (90) days or more during any school year will be given credit for one (1) year of service, provided that said teacher completes the school year for which he/she was contracted. Part-time teachers will be paid a salary amount pro-rated to the teacher's FTE based on the Step and Column the teacher occupies on the salary schedule.

## 10.4 Compensation Payment Options:

Teachers shall have the following payment options bi-weekly for the fiscal year starting July 1<sup>st</sup>, with the first payment by the last Friday in August of each year.

- a. Twenty-six equal payment, the first by the last Friday in August;
- b. Twenty-two equal payments, the first by the last Friday in August;
- c. Twenty-two equal payments of 22/26<sup>th</sup> of the total salary, the first by the last Friday in August, with a lump sum equal to four (4) pay periods in the final paycheck.

A teacher will indicate by August 1<sup>st</sup> or at the time of orientation which option they desire and such selection shall not be changed during the school year, except in case of an emergency.

A teacher may choose to have his or her pay directly deposited into up to two accounts with the amount to be deposited in each account decided by the teacher. A statement of gross pay and all deductions shall accompany every paycheck.

10.4 A. (Cabot & Twinfield Only) Salaries of professional staff on a standard school year contract will be paid on a bi-weekly basis commencing in August or September of each year but no earlier than after one (1) scheduled teacher workday either in 22 or 26 payments as selected by the staff member, in accordance with 21 VSA § 342. In the case of 26 payments, all money owed the teacher will be paid in one balloon check in the last pay period in June.

A teacher may elect in writing to have a set amount or set percentage of his/her after-tax wages withheld by the school district and dispersed at a later time, in accordance with 21 VSA § 342.

10.4B (Cabot & Twinfield Only ) Any teacher leaving the service of the school during the school year will be paid all monies due as of the last employment day. This will be determined by dividing the teacher's annual salary by 185 days and multiplying this quotient by the number of workdays in the school year up to the time the teacher leaves service.

Any teacher leaving the services of the school at the end of the school year will be paid all sums due no later than the last payroll period in June.

## 10.5 Payroll Deductions:

The Board agrees to administer the following payroll deductions as authorized by a teacher and provided such authorization is received by the School Business Office.

- A. Financial Institutions
- B. Tax Sheltered Annuities
- C. Disability Insurance
- D. Health Insurance/Dental Contributions
- E. IRS Section 125 Account for contributions allowed by regulation
- F. Association Dues and Agency Fees, if allowed by law
- G. Or other vendors as specifically approved by the Board

Such authorization shall continue in effect from year to year unless revoked in writing by the teacher. Changes in payroll deductions may be made provided Human Resource and/or the Business Office has received 30 days-notice in advance of the intended change from the Teacher authorizing that change.

## 10.6 Per Diem Pay:

Any extension beyond the contracted service days will be remunerated at a teacher's per diem rate or options (B&C) below. Any such extension must be approved by the Superintendent and will be voluntary. Extensions to contracted service days will include any pre-approved work including curriculum work, school quality work, committee work, portfolio work, goal and direction setting, assessment, work related to State mandates or any other work that the Administration deems necessary, but will not include voluntary attendance at workshops,

seminars or courses, or voluntary attendance at evening school events. Nothing in this section will be construed to prevent teachers from doing voluntary unpaid work beyond the contracted service days.

There will be three (3) different ways in which the teacher may receive their pay. It will be predetermined by the building administrator before commencement of the work.

- A. Per Diem in accordance with the teacher's salary;
- B. An agreed upon Stipend amount set by the Superintendent or Administrator;
- C. An hourly rate set by particular Grant obligations.

The Superintendent or designee will include the Union President in email communications regarding available per diem rates.

First year teachers will be expected to participate in the school's orientation program before the start of school and will be paid on a per diem rate for orientation days. Mentees will be expected to attend Mentee Meetings and meet with their mentors as a professional obligation and condition of employment in the years in which mentoring is required by law.

## 10.7 National Board of Professional Teaching Standards Certification:

In addition to the salary set forth in Appendix A, any teacher who achieves National Board of Professional Teaching Standards certification will receive a lump sum of one thousand dollars (\$1000) per year for so long as certification is maintained. Any teacher whose area of employment is not covered by a NBPTS certification and who obtains a national certification through another organization may submit documentation to the Superintendent concerning that certification. If the Superintendent determines that the requirements for the certification are comparable to that for NBPTS certification the teacher will be entitled the above yearly bonus. The sum will continue for so long as certification is maintained, however, it will not continue for more than 10 years unless the granting organization requires renewal equivalent to that required every ten years by the NBPTS.

## 10.8 Mileage Reimbursement:

Any teacher who is requested to use his/her automobile for district travel during the course of his/her employment, other than to and from school, as authorized and/or required shall be reimbursed for mileage at the current IRS allowable rate. This travel would consist of traveling to and from conferences, and other designated locations as requested by administration. Reimbursement shall be made following submission of a voucher by the teacher to the building administrator or supervisor, or his/her designee. This does not include reimbursement for travel for professional development days within CCSU.

10.8A (Cabot & Twinfield Only) Transportation costs incurred and authorized in connection with the regular school program will be reimbursed at the rate established and used by the State of

Vermont. Teachers will be reimbursed for meals incurred in connection with the regular school program and other professional functions approved by the administration for up to but no more than \$45 per person per day

10.9 When a mistake is found in a teacher's contract, his/her pay will be adjusted retroactively to the correct amount and the teacher will reimburse the district if they have been overpaid or the district will compensate the teacher who has been underpaid. Repayment will be distributed under a mutually agreed-upon plan.

## **Article 11 Insurance**

11.1 The Board agrees to provide any insurance coverage as provided in this Agreement subject to the rules, regulations and eligibility requirements of the individual insurance carrier unless such eligibility requirements are modified by the terms of this Agreement. The Board shall be held harmless for any and all costs or claims in the event that the insurance carrier denies coverage of such a claim; further, the Board shall not be liable for any act or omission of any insurance carrier, its employees or agents, or any person furnishing professional services provided pursuant to the insurance coverage terms. In the event that both a husband and wife are employed by the Board, the Board will be obligated to provide only one insurance plan for the husband and wife or partners to a civil union, as defined by 15 V.S.A. Chapter 23, and 18 V.S.A. Chapter 106, as a unit (e.g., two-person or family plan). The Board will offer health insurance to each teacher and his or her dependents. The term dependent shall include a person who is a party to a civil union pursuant to 15 V.S.A. Chapter 23, and 18 V.S.A. Chapter 106.

#### 11.2 Health Insurance:

- A. Commission on Public School Employee Health Benefits Commission. The Board shall provide teachers health insurance and related benefits as required by the arbitration award and the resolution of negotiations by the Commission on Public School Employee Health Benefits pursuant to the provisions of 16 V.S.A. §2101-2108. Appendix C in this Agreement includes the terms of the arbitration award and agreements of the statewide health insurance bargaining. (See Appendix C)
- B. Grievance. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, including Article 5, Grievance Procedure, any dispute or claim alleging that there has been a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of the terms of the arbitration award and/or health insurance and benefits as required by the Commission on Public School Employee Health Benefits, shall be referred to the Commission for resolution. The Commission on Public School Employee Health Benefits shall have exclusive jurisdiction regarding any such dispute or claim regarding the provisions of health insurance or related health benefits.

- C. This subsection B shall not be effective unless and until such time as the Commission is authorized and negotiates, through the statutory process, a grievance procedure for the resolution of such disputes or claims.
- D. The District will require that debit cards are issued by a Third Party Administrator. Costs incurred through third party negligence shall be covered by the District.
- E. Teachers who fill prescriptions at pharmacies deemed "90% merchants" shall be advised by the school district that they must submit receipts to TPA to satisfy IRS rules for these select merchants in respect to the substantiation of prescription out-of-pocket costs reimbursed with HRA or FSA funds.
- F. The Association and Boards acknowledge that in some cases medical providers, consistent with the terms of their service contracts with Blue Cross/Blue Shield, may demand payment prior to providing or immediately after providing services. If a provider demands payment in such a scenario, teachers will be required to make payments directly and request reimbursement from TPA.
- G. The District will provide the teachers with comprehensive and accurate information and training during the work day on how to utilize the services and tools provided by TPA to manage their HRA and FSA funds and to satisfy HRA and FSA substantiation requirements for expenses incurred at pharmacies.
- 11.3 Should the Board desire to retain a different carrier or self-insure, it shall notify the Association in writing at least sixty (60) days prior to the contemplated change. The Association shall be given the opportunity to meet with the Board to discuss the equivalency of the policy benefit coverage, as well as other factors that might influence the Board's decision on carrier selection. The selection must be mutually agreed upon. In the event that, during the life of this agreement, the District is no longer able to obtain health insurance through VEHI and/or the District is required to obtain teacher health insurance through the Vermont Health Connect Insurance Exchange, or the state of Vermont offers health insurance through a single-payer system known as Green Mountain Care, or there is a significant change in costs to the Board due to health reform mandates at the state (Vermont) or federal level, the Association and the Board agree to reopen Articles 11 & 16 of this agreement and negotiate a new teacher health insurance program and related salary considerations.

## 11.4 Payment in Lieu: (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

Eligible full-time teachers, electing not to participate in the health insurance benefit, upon demonstration of having alternative group-sponsored health insurance coverage (or other qualifying health coverage as defined in the Section 125 Plan) for themselves and their eligible dependents, may elect to receive \$1,500 in lieu of insurance (payable in equal biweekly installments). Eligible part-time teachers, with an FTE of .75 or higher, electing not to participate in the health insurance may receive a pro-rated sum equivalent to their FTE. The sum in lieu of insurance will be an annual option for eligible teachers, who must make such

election prior to June 1 of the preceding school year on a form available from the Superintendent. New employees who are also eligible for insurance will also be offered this option (on a pro-rated basis if working a partial election year). This cash in lieu of insurance option is offered to all qualifying employees provided said employee certifies that he or she has other health insurance coverage and said insurance coverage is not provided through a Vermont Public School District, via a spouse or domestic partner or parent. All other terms and conditions shall be as defined in the District's Section 125 plan document.

A teacher electing payment in lieu of insurance who then seeks to reverse his/her decision during the health plan benefit year may do so subject to the regulations of the carrier. Prior to such enrollment, the teacher shall make pro-rated restitution to the District of any payment(s) in lieu of insurance. Such restitution shall be made in a single payment (not through payroll deduction).

## 11.5 **Section 125 Plan:**

The Board agrees to establish and administer at its own expense a Section 125 Plan as outlined by the law.

## 11.6 **Dental Insurance:**

The Board agrees to provide for and pay the premium of 100% of a single or two-person plan, and the teacher will pay the premium cost for the premium differential between a two-person and a family plan. The dental benefit for the dental plan shall provide an annual benefit of \$1500 per covered person.

## 11.6a Dental Insurance (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

The Board agrees to provide for and pay the premium of 100% of a single plan. A teacher selecting additional coverage will pay the premium cost for the premium differential between a single plan and a two-person or family plan.

## 11.7 Life Insurance: (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

The Board will provide a group life insurance policy for each teacher in the amount of \$60,000 to be paid to the Teacher's designated beneficiary or estate, subject to the regulations of the carrier.

## 11.8 Disability Insurance: (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

Teachers shall be entitled to coverage under a long-term insurance plan pursuant to the regulations, terms and conditions of the insurance carrier. Said plan shall provide an eligible teacher, on a monthly basis, sixty-six and seven tenths percent (66.70%) of said teacher's salary up to a maximum payment of Four Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$4,500). Said disability plan shall have a ninety (90) calendar day elimination period and will provide benefits to age 65. The plan shall treat mental illness and illness or disability resulting from pregnancy as any other qualifying illness or disability under the policy and shall include a cost-of-living rider. The plan

shall be VEHI UNUM or other mutually agreed upon carrier. The Board agrees to pay 100% of the premium of the disability insurance plan.

The teacher is required to access the LTD once eligible. The Teacher may opt to retain any unused sick leave days once LTD eligibility status is realized. Once eligible for LTD, the teachers shall receive only the difference between the LTD and their regular salary for the extent of the teachers' accrued sick leave. The teacher's unused sick leave days will be accumulated until his/her return to work.

Upon notification of eligibility for disability benefits, a teacher shall apply to the State Teachers' Retirement Program for benefits, including health insurance. If the teacher is determined eligible for insurance coverage through the Teachers' Retirement Program, the Board will compensate the teacher for up to ninety percent (90%) of the teacher's share of the health insurance premium under Teachers' Retirement for a period of six (6) consecutive months commencing with the notification date of eligibility for disability benefits or the end of the school year (August 25 – June 20), whichever is greater. However, if after application to State Teachers' Retirement Program the teacher is determined ineligible for insurance benefits through the Teachers' Retirement Program, the Board shall continue to contribute premium costs of the medical, dental or applicable life insurance plans provided pursuant to this Agreement for a period of six (6) consecutive months commencing with the notification date of eligibility for disability benefits or the end of the school year (August 25 – June 20), whichever is greater.

## 11.9 Liability and Workers' Compensation: (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

The District shall maintain a general liability insurance policy in compliance with the requirements of 16 V.S.A. § 1756 and shall provide Workers' Compensation Insurance. When a teacher receives Workers Compensation benefits he/she shall also use his/he accumulated sick leave to offset the difference between the Workers' Compensation benefits and his/her full salary. This shall be accomplished by the teacher endorsing all Workers' Compensation benefit checks over to the District; the District will then pay the teacher his/her full salary and deduct 1/3 of a sick leave day from the teacher's accumulation for each school day of absence. The Board shall also continue to pay its share of all insurance benefits provided by the Agreement until the teacher's sick leave is exhausted. Accumulated sick leave does not include an additional fifteen (15) days for the new contract year, unless the teacher actually works during the school year.

## 11.9A Liability Insurance (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

The Board will provide liability insurance and coverage for teachers in accordance with the provisions of VSA § 1756.

## 11.10 AFLAC Insurance: (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

The Board agrees to offer and provide payroll deduction for any teacher who wishes to enroll in optional AFLAC insurance coverage at no cost to the Board.

## **Article 12 Leaves**

## 12.1 Sick Leave

Teachers will begin each contract year with a credit of fifteen (15) days sick leave, and may accumulate sick leave up to a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) days.

Sick Leave is maintained electronically for each teacher through iVisions or a comparable tool.

The Board shall grant paid leave up to the maximum accumulated-sick leave of each teacher for illness as per the Vermont Family Leave Act. Such leave shall be with full pay and will be deducted from that teacher's accumulated sick leave. Leaves in excess of three (3) consecutive days shall require written verification from the attending physician, if requested by the school principal, or other administrator. This leave shall also include leave to care for any individual living full time in the teacher's home.

Note: Consideration will be taken for the care of teacher's children, understanding that a family may have multiple children that may become ill in a short period of time due to a temporary illness. In this event physician verification may not be warranted.

A teacher, upon his/her retirement, having completed twenty (20) years of creditable service as a teacher in the Caledonia Central Supervisory Union will have the option to be paid fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per day for each day of his/her unused-sick leave. In the event a teacher who has received payment under this provision is reemployed within the Supervisory Union, said teacher is not eligible to receive further payment under this provision.

## 12.1A Sick Leave (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

Each teacher will be entitled to fifteen (15) sick days with full pay each school year. These days may also be used for care of a member of the teacher's immediate household or family.

Annual sick leave will be fixed as of the first official day that a teacher is expected to report. First year teachers to the district will be entitled to five (5) sick days the first semester and ten (10) additional sick days after the end of the first semester with an annual total of fifteen (15) sick days. If a first year teacher uses more than the five (5) sick days during the first semester and remains employed for the rest of the school year, he/she may recoup the first semester loss from the remaining ten (10) sick days. Sick leave days may accumulate to a maximum of one hundred fifty-five (155) sick days.

After five (5) consecutive sick days, the Board and/or Superintendent may require a physician's statement verifying the illness and/or the fitness of the teacher to return to work.

Extended unpaid sick leave may be granted by the Board. Group health and dental insurance may be retained during extended unpaid sick leave provided the teacher continues to pay the full insurance premiums. Insurance payments should be paid one month in advance at the Superintendent's office.

## 12.2 Sick Leave Bank: (All Schools)

The Board agrees to the establishment of a sick bank which shall be administered by a committee composed of three (3) Association members and two (2) Board members. The Association shall submit an annual accounting of members, days and use no later than November 1<sup>st</sup> of each year.

- A. The maximum number of days accumulated in the Bank may not exceed eight hundred (800) days. Accumulated days in the bank, below the ceiling of 800 shall be carried over from year to year.
- B. Teachers may contribute up to three (3) sick leave days to the Bank by October 1 of the school year.
- C. Teachers must use all personal sick days of their own prior to using the Bank. Teachers in need of extra sick days may request use of the days currently in the bank.
- D. Once eligible for long term disability insurance, the teacher shall not use the sick Bank.

## E. Procedures: (All Schools)

- 1. In the event of an extended illness which exhausts all of a Staff's accumulated sick leave days, the staff person may apply to the sick Leave Bank for additional sick leave days and may use the sick leave bank days only until long term disability insurance becomes available.
- 2. Upon application by a staff member or the teacher's designee, if the staff member is so incapacitated as to not be able to apply, the committee shall review the application and they shall verify medical verification of illness from the attending physician and render a decision as to whether or not sick bank days shall be granted, and if granted, shall grant sick leave days according to the established limits.
- 3. Payment for sick bank days shall be at full salary and the granting of these days shall not affect the teacher's accumulation of sick leave days in future years.
- 4. Any teacher's unused sick leave that exceeds that allotted amount to be carried over per individual teacher of 120 days (or 155 days for Twinfield and Cabot) will be donated to the CCSU sick leave bank. If the sick bank is not at its maximum number of days after this donation, then Teachers may contribute up to three (3) days each until the maximum number of sick days in the bank is reached. The Superintendent's office will notify the Association of how many days are needed to reach the maximum sick bank days.
- 5. The building level administrative assistant will document the individual district's accumulated contribution to the CCSU sick leave bank.

## 12.3 Personal Leave:

Each teacher will be entitled to up to four (4) days of paid leave each school year for personal necessity. Except in an emergency all personal leave should be requested at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance (except for an emergency) and will require the approval of the administration.

Personal leave is in no way to be construed as additional sick leave or vacation time and is not accumulative. Personal leave days will not be used for extending a holiday or a vacation. The administration in charge has the right to limit the total number of leaves on any day, based on the needs of operating and providing services to students. Personal leave will be given priority over other leave requests due to the teacher's personal circumstance. The building administrator, in consultation with the Superintendent or designee, may approve personal leave to extend a holiday or vacation period due to special or extenuating circumstances.

## 12.3A Personal Leave (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

Each teacher will be eligible for up to five (5) days of paid leave each school year for personal necessity. Except in an emergency all personal leave should be requested at least 48 hours in advance and will require the approval of the administration.

Personal leave is in no way to be construed as additional sick leave or vacation time and is not accumulative. Personal leave days will not be used for extending a holiday weekend or a school break period. Requests for personal leave in connection to a holiday weekend or a school break period may be granted in exceptional circumstances at the discretion of the Principal. The administration has the right to limit the total number of leaves on any day.

## 12.4 **Professional Leave**:

Up to three (3) professional days per year for the purpose of visiting other schools or attending meeting, conferences, workshops, conventions, or clinics of an educational nature, may be granted by the Principal or CCSU Administrator. Request for professional leave will be submitted in writing and whenever feasible submitted to the principal at least one week before the requested leave day. Whenever feasible, the teacher shall be notified within one week whether his/her request has been approved.

Note: Additional professional leave may be approved by the building administrator or direct supervisor.

## 12.4A Professional Leave (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

## **Teacher Requested Leave**

Teachers may be granted up to five (5) professional days for such purposes as attending meetings or conferences, visiting other schools or classrooms or other professional development activities. Request for professional leave must be submitted at least two (2) weeks in advance. This leave is not cumulative. Approval of leave will be at the discretion of the Principal, based on such factors as relevance to school improvement objectives, availability of adequate substitute coverage, or availability of funds for expenses. The Principal will issue a decision regarding professional leave in writing within one week of receiving the request.

## **Administrator Directed Leave**

Teachers may be granted additional leave by the Principal to attend meetings, conferences or workshops for such purposes as school improvement, curriculum assessment and development, mentoring, Vermont Agency of Education training, or other activities required by the Board;

recommended by the administration or initiated by teachers. Request for administrator directed leave should be submitted at least one (1) week in advance and must be approved by the Principal.

## **Association Leave**

Whenever any representative(s) of the Association who has received approval and participates during working hours in conferences or meetings, he/she will suffer no loss in pay or benefits. However, attendance at such conferences or meetings during school time will not be authorized without written approval by the Board or the Superintendent. Such request will be submitted in writing to the Superintendent ten (10) school days in advance of such conferences or meetings, unless in case of emergency. The Superintendent or the Board will respond within five (5) school days of receipt of such request. These conferences and meetings are of Association business and the total released time is restricted to five (5) days annually for the entire Association.

## 12.5 **Bereavement Leave/Emergency Leave:**

Up to eight (8) days leave with pay per occurrence will be granted to a teacher in the event of a death in the teacher's immediate family. Immediate family will mean spouse, partner by civil union, significant other, child, stepchild, foster child, brother, sister, mother, father, grandparent or grandchild by family or marriage.

- A. Up to five (5) days leave with pay per occurrence will be granted in the event of a death in the teacher's extended family.
- B. The building administrator or direct supervisor, in consultation with the Superintendent, may authorize additional leave beyond the above limit. Such additional leave may be subtracted from the teacher's sick leave with the permission of the Board.
- C. The building administrator or direct supervisor, in consultation with the Superintendent, may authorize leave for special circumstances for a category of relation not listed above.

## 12.5A Military Leave (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

Military leave of up to ten (10) days in any calendar year will be granted to any teacher who is a member of the National Guard or any other component of the reserve forces of the United States who is engaged with such organization or component in training or active service ordered by proper authority. The school district will pay the difference, if any, between the military salary on a per diem basis and the school district salary on a per diem basis of 1/185th of the contract rate. Upon written request the Board may grant additional days.

## 12.6 Parental/Family Leave:

The purpose of this Article is to notify teachers of their rights under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the Vermont Parent and Family Leave Act (VTPFLA). The provisions of this Article are not intended to either enlarge or diminish a teacher's rights under either statute. Unless specifically modified by this Article all definitions, rights, benefits and obligations created by the FMLA and/or the VTPFLA, including any regulations duly adopted thereunder, will apply.

## 12.6A Family Leave (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

The purpose of this Article is to notify teachers of their rights under the Family Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") and the Vermont Parent and Family Leave Act ("VTPFLA"). The provisions of this Article are not intended to either enlarge or diminish a teacher's rights under either statute. Unless specifically modified by this Article all definitions, rights, benefits and obligations created by the FMLA and/or the VTPFLA, including any regulations duly adopted thereunder, will apply.

Teachers who meet the eligibility requirements of the FMLA or the VTPFLA may be granted up to a total of 12 workweeks (60 workdays) of unpaid leave during any 12-month period for one or more of the following reasons:

- For the birth and care of a newborn child of the employee;
- For placement with the employee of a son or daughter for adoption or foster care;
- To care for a spouse, or a child, or parent of the employee or spouse with a serious health condition;
- For medical leave when the employee is unable to work because of a serious health condition; or
- For qualifying exigencies as defined by the FMLA arising out of the fact that the employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent is on active duty or call to active duty status as a member of the National Guard or Reserves in support of a contingency operation.
- An eligible teacher may elect, or the district may require, that a teacher substitute his or her accrued paid leave on a day for day basis during any period of unpaid leave provided by the FMLA or VTPFLA. The VTPFLA allows a teacher to utilize up to six (6) weeks (30 work days) of accrued paid leave during any approved leave to which the VTPFLA applies. The FMLA also allows a teacher to substitute accrued paid leave for unpaid leave, but provides that use of paid leave during any period of leave granted under the FMLA must be consistent with the provisions of this Agreement.

A teacher will provide the Superintendent with reasonable written notice of his or her intent to take leave under the FMLA or VTPFLA. Notice will include the date the leave is anticipated to commence and the estimated duration of the leave. A teacher may return from leave earlier than estimated with the approval of the Superintendent. A teacher will provide reasonable notice to the Superintendent of his/her need to extend leave to the extent allowed under the FMLA or VTPFLA. A teacher will complete such forms and provide such medical information as may be allowed by law and necessary to support the request for leave. Insurance benefits will be continued while the teacher is out on approved leave under the FMLA provided that the teacher pays the normal teacher contribution of the insurance premium. At the end of the approved leave a teacher will be entitled to return to his/her former position, or to a comparable position, with no loss of pay, seniority or benefits.

A teacher may apply to the Board for extended unpaid leave beyond any leave provided under the FMLA.

#### 12.7 Parental Leave:

A parental leave of absence without pay for a period of up to one (1) year will be granted to any teacher for the purpose of child rearing, of a newly born child or the adoption of a child. Such leave will be less than one year if the leave commences after the beginning of the school year. A teacher requesting a parental leave will, except in the case of an emergency, notify the Superintendent, in writing, sixty (60) calendar days prior to the date on which the leave is requested to begin. The specific length of this leave is to be stated in such request. However, the teacher may not return after May 1st except at the sole discretion of the Board.

Each teacher will be entitled to forty-five (45) days of paid leave based on their accumulated sick days, and at the teacher's discretion personal days may be used, per newly born child or the adoption of a child.

Upon termination of the leave, the teacher will be restored to his or her former position or a similar position (subject to any reduction in force action), and all benefits that existed before such leaves began (including but not limited to accumulated sick leave) will be restored unless modified by a new contract. A teacher on leave will be notified in writing of their assignment by April 15. During such leave a teacher will continue participation in the group insurance program(s). The teacher will only pay his/her portion of the premium and out of pocket expenses. This will be paid in monthly installments.

#### 12.8 Leave of Absence:

Upon written application by a teacher, the Board may, at its discretion, grant a leave of absence without pay. Teachers will retain all accumulated sick leave, seniority, and step on salary schedule during the leave of absence. A teacher on leave of absence may continue to have health insurance coverage in the plan if the teacher pays the full premium in monthly installments as they become due, provided this does not conflict with the insurance carrier's regulations. The Superintendent may establish a date by which the teacher shall notify the District of his/her intent to return from the leave of absence.

A teacher returning from a leave of absence shall be placed on the step of the salary schedule they would have been on during the year of leave, and in the column appropriate to their education. Teachers taking such leaves shall retain all accrued benefits which were their entitlement at the time of the leave, and have those benefits restored to them upon return. On return from a leave of absence, a teacher will be assigned to the same position which he/she had at the time said leave commenced, if available, or if not, to a substantially equivalent position.

# 12.8A Long Term Leave of Absence (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

## **Unrestricted Leave of Absence**

Upon written request and the recommendation of the principal, the Board may grant a longterm leave of absence according to those conditions agreed upon by both the teacher and Board. The conditions must not be in conflict with the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. The teacher granted such leave will be guaranteed reemployment in his/her

position assignment or a comparable position assignment by the Board. The teacher will agree to remain in the local school district for two (2) years upon return from the leave period.

Seniority credit and sick leave do not accrue during the time of this leave. All insurance benefits will continue to be available at the teacher's expense. Insurance premiums will be paid to the Superintendent's office at least one month in advance.

## **Professional Leave of Absence**

Upon written request and the recommendation of the principal, the Board may grant a long-term leave of absence for the purpose of school improvement initiatives, research and/or professional development. The teacher granted such leave will be guaranteed reemployment in his/her position assignment by the Board, and the teacher will agree to remain in the local school district for two (2) years upon return from the leave period.

If the leave is paid leave, benefits and seniority will continue.

If the leave is unpaid leave, seniority credit and sick leave do not accrue during the time of the leave. A teacher who has been continuously employed in the supervisory union for six years or more may choose to receive insurance benefits as if regularly employed by the district. The insurance premium paid by the district during the leave must be repaid to the district on a prorated basis if the teacher does not complete two (2) years of employment immediately after the leave of absence.

## 12.9 Leave Proration (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

Part-time teachers shall be entitled to all leaves noted in this Article on a pro-rata basis, based upon the teacher's full-time equivalency (FTE) under one of the following methods.

- A. A teacher contracted to work partial days for an entire school year shall be entitled to a total number of days noted in this Article but shall be paid for each day at the per diem rate for the day of absence; i.e., a teacher contracted to teach one-half a day will receive a half day of pay for each day of absence.
- B. A teacher contracted to work full days for part of the school year shall receive full pay for each day of absence but shall only be entitled to pro-rata number of specified days of leave.
- C. A teacher contracted to work partial days for part of the school year shall have both the specified number of days and his/her pay for each day pro- rated by his/her FTE.

## 12.9A Part-time Employees (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

Teachers employed on a permanent part-time basis will have their salary pro-rated either based on the number of full days they work in the year divided by the number of student days or the proportion of the contracted teacher workday served including, but not limited to, a minimum of one planning period per day. Part-time faculty must attend the percentage of in-service time for which they are contracted unless alternative arrangements are agreed upon and articulated

in the individual teacher's contract. Additional contracted time will be paid at the teacher's regular pay rate.

The salary will be in accordance with the teacher's approved education and experience levels as indicated on the salary schedule.

All other benefits of this Agreement will also be on a pro-rated basis based upon the actual percentage for which part-time teachers are contracted, where it is possible and permissible to pro-rate benefits.

# 12.10 Sabbatical Leave (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

- A. A sabbatical leave may be granted for one-half (1/2) of a school year or a full school year, to a teacher that has seven (7) consecutive years of service in CCSU and/or the former ECSU, and must be for academic endeavors in the academic field.
- B. The teacher shall receive fifty (50) percent of their salary during the term of their sabbatical. The Board will fund benefits agreed to in this Agreement to the teacher while on sabbatical. The teacher may continue any payroll deductions that were in force and deducted from salary during the year preceding sabbatical.
- C. Upon return from a sabbatical leave a teacher will be considered as if he/she had been on active service during the period of leave and will be placed on the salary schedule at the level he/she would have achieved if such leave had not been taken.
- D. A teacher who fails to return to the school for two (2) years following a sabbatical leave or who deviates significantly from the program of activity shall be liable for refund to the district of monies (defined as all cash paid by the district for salary and fringe benefits) paid during the period of leave as follows: person who leave the district before satisfactory completion of the first contract year shall be liable for refund to the district of one hundred (100) percent of all monies paid during the period of leave. Persons who leave the district before satisfactory completion of the second successive year shall be liable for refund to the district of fifty (50) percent of all mines paid during the period of leave. Repayment must be made within ninety (90) days of the teacher's termination of employment with the district.
- E. Monies paid during a period of sabbatical leave shall be advanced under a loan agreement. A legal note, interest free, will serve as a loan agreement. This note will be discharged after two (2) years of satisfactory teaching upon the return from sabbatical leave. However, should a teacher not be able to return to the school for the stated period after a sabbatical leave because of illness, disability, or death of said teacher, or if the teacher loses his or her position due to a reduction in staff and is not recalled, the teacher will be released from the obligation to refund monies paid during his/her sabbatical leave.
- F. Application of sabbatical leave must be received on or before November 15<sup>th</sup> of the school year preceding the sabbatical period requested. The applicant will be notified, in writing, as to the acceptance or rejection in principle of such application by January 30<sup>th</sup>.

- G. Provided the District Board complies with the procedural requirements of the Sabbatical Leave application process, in all cases involving sabbatical leave applications, the decision of the Board shall be final and shall not be subject to grievance.
- H. There shall be intervals of not less than seven (7) consecutive years of service from the date of return to the district between sabbatical leaves of a teacher unless special circumstances exist which in the opinion of the Superintendent warrant special consideration by the Board.
- I. The decision to accept or to deny the application will be based on the following: the educational merits of the proposal, the broad based benefits of the sabbatical to the school, the determination that the sabbatical represents the best or most efficient way to provide these benefits and the acceptance of any adequately detailed plan of prior mutual expectations between the teacher and principal regarding the implementation of sabbatical goals upon return to the school.
- J. It is understood by both parties that the Board's decision will be based upon the merit of the sabbatical proposal and the prevailing financial conditions.
- K. Sabbatical leaves of absence may be combined with programs of study, research, writing, or travel which are financed by outside agencies, organizations, or institutions. Should the applicant for sabbatical leave also be the recipient of a grant, fellowship, assistantship or other stipend, the Board will pay a salary amount equal to the difference between the teacher's normal salary and the grant, fellowship, assistantship or stipend used by the teacher to pay expenses connected with the declared purpose of the sabbatical leave. Such expenses would include tuition, research, materials, and travel expenses not directly related to the teacher's normal living costs. However, the person may not secure full-time employment.
- L. A teacher who receives a sabbatical leave will, upon completion of the leave, present to the board a written report of activities during the leave. The report will include a statement of how the teacher personally benefited and how the school system will benefit from the activities.
- M. Staff on sabbatical are subject to RIF and non-renewal provisions of this Agreement.
- N. Sabbatical leave terms are defined as January 1<sup>st</sup> through June 30<sup>th</sup> and July 1<sup>st</sup> through December 31<sup>st</sup>. Adjustments to the specific dates may be reviewed by the Board.

## 12.11 Jury Duty:

A teacher called for jury duty or subpoenaed shall be excused from work as found necessary by the court. However, he/she must inform the principal as soon as notice from the court is received and shall verify the dates of the actual jury duty. If a teacher is either released by the court before his/her hours of employment are over or able to report to work before court duty is required, the teacher is required to report to work. Compensation for each day of jury duty will be at the teacher's regular rate less the amount paid by the court. Any sum given to the teacher on jury duty as a travel expense is to be retained by the teacher. In the event that a teacher is selected for an extended jury duty of more than five (5) days, a long-term sub would be hired.

# 12.11A Jury Duty (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

The teacher is entitled to paid leave from the district. The teacher will forward jury duty pay to the district. The teacher will retain monies paid for mileage expenses.

# 12.12 Association Business Leave: (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

Whenever any representative(s) of the Association who has received approval and participates during working hours in conferences or meetings, he/she will suffer no loss in pay or benefits. However, attendance at such conferences or meetings during school time will not be authorized without written approval by the Superintendent. Such request will be submitted in writing to the Superintendent ten (10) school days in advance of such conferences or meetings, unless in case of emergency. The Superintendent will respond within five (5) school days of receipt of such request. These conferences and meetings are for Association business and the total released time is restricted to five (5) days annually for the entire Association.

## 12.13 Miscellaneous Leave Provisions:

- A. Teachers will not be required to arrange for their own substitutes.
- B. Any teacher fulfilling mandatory military active duty obligations will receive his or her regular per diem salary minus the pay for a substitute for a period not to exceed one month.
- C. Deductions for unnecessary absences will be made from the teacher's salary pro-rated for the day or part of the day absent.

## Summary of Leave (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

Description	Days	Cumulative Days	Notes
Sick Leave	15	120 maximum cap	
Personal Leave	4	0	See 12.3 for conditions
Professional Leave	3	0	Additional may be granted by Administration
Bereavement Leave	Up to 8 immediate family Up to 5 – extended family		Additional may be granted by Administration
Parental Leave	45	0	See 12.7
Association Leave	5	0	Requires authorization from superintendent. Five (5) days cumulative for entire association.

#### **Article 13 Tuition Reimbursement**

- 13.1 The Board shall pre-pay the cost of tuition of courses/trainings/workshops upon pre-approval in writing of a teacher's acceptance into a course(s) as follows:
  - A. Up to 100% of the cost for six (6) credits plus a lab fee if required for the course each year at a cost not to exceed the UVM graduate rate in effect at the time the course(s) was taken, and in no instance more than the actual cost. The school district will pay tuition at the time of enrollment. A payment voucher will be sent to the teacher who is responsible for all registration responsibilities. In the event that the teacher does not complete the course or receive a grade of B or better, the teacher shall reimburse the district the sum paid to the institution. The teacher must provide proof of successfully completing the course or workshop within six (6) months of competition. If a teacher does not meet the above requirement, the sum of money advanced to the teacher for the course or workshop will be deducted through a reasonable and agreed upon payment plan. All coursework/courses for teachers who are less than full time teachers shall be pro-rated commensurate with their percentage of employment each semester.
  - B. Credits for payment will be for the following:
    - 1. Graduate credits earned at an accredited college or university related to a teacher's field of teaching, furthering a teacher's degree in education, or coursework necessary for licensure, provided the Building Administration receives prior notification of the intent to take such credits and the manner in which payment is to be applied.
    - 2. All course work and professional development will be linked directly to the CCSU goals and the teacher's assignment and must be approved by the teacher's direct supervisor.
  - C. Teachers leaving the district shall reimburse the district for any tuition paid for coursework during the summer in which their contract expires.
  - D. Teachers in a program of advanced degree status shall have tuition paid for up to 9 credits for degree related courses if prior notification has been submitted in writing to the Superintendent. However, at no time shall the total course reimbursement to members of the bargaining unit exceed 6 credits per FTE who are not enrolled in a degree program.
  - E. **Professional Development:** Reimbursable expenses for attendance at conferences will need prior approval from the Principal or CCSU Administrator. Reimbursable conference expenses may include: conference fees, transportation, hotel expenses, meals and substitute pay if the Teacher has used his/her three professional days. Reimbursement for conferences expenses shall be given to a Teacher after sales receipts

have been presented to the Board. Purchase orders may also be used by a Teacher to cover conference expenses whenever possible.

#### 13.1A Tuition Reimbursement (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

A. The Board will provide each faculty member with reimbursement for up to six (6) graduate credits/year at the fall resident tuition rate at the University of Vermont for graduate classes, Licensure requirements such as SLP licensure, or National Board Certification.

Course credits may accumulate from year to year to a maximum of twelve (12) credits in any school year. Teachers must have served in the Washington Northeast Supervisory Union one (1) semester to be eligible for course payment/reimbursement.

B. In order to qualify for course payment the teacher will submit the appropriate form for recommendation by the principal at least two (2) weeks prior to the beginning of the course. The principal will forward the request to the Superintendent for approval. The Superintendent will respond in writing within ten (10) school days to inform the teacher of his/her approval/disapproval.

Payment will be granted only for courses which meet district needs and/or improve the teacher's competence in the subject area or grade level assigned and/or courses for relicensure and endorsements, unless another course is specifically approved by the Superintendent.

Payment will be made for the course (a) to the institution, upon receipt of an invoice or (b) to the teacher, once he/she has enrolled in a course and submits a receipt of payment.

The receipt/invoice must contain the name of the course, number of credits to be earned, and the cost per credit. Payment will be made during the same year in which the course begins.

Evidence of successful completion must be provided at the completion of the course. Teachers will provide documentation of course completion by April 1st for the Fall Semester, September 1st for the Spring Semester, and November 1st for a summer course. In unusual circumstances, these deadlines may be adjusted by mutual agreement with the teacher and the supervisory union office. If documentation is not provided by the dates stated, the amount of the course payment will be deducted from the first paychecks thereafter. In the event that the teacher withdraws from, does not successfully complete, or is dropped from the course for whatever reason, the teacher will be obligated to refund the cost of the course payment to the school district. If this sum is not refunded by mid-September (for a summer course), by the end of January (for a fall course), by the end of the contracted school year (for a spring course), the amount of repayment due may be withheld from the next payroll periods in October, February,

or the last payroll period in June, respectively. In unusual circumstances these deadlines may be adjusted by mutual agreement between the teacher and the supervisory union office. Delays solely caused by the institution issuing credits on grades will not be grounds to initiate these collection deadlines.

- D. Part-time teachers will be entitled to pro rata payment for tuition. Part-time teachers who work fifty percent (50%) or more may receive full payment for up to four (4) credits if no reimbursement was received the preceding year.
- E. Teachers that have attained National Board Certification and have submitted evidence of this certification by September 1st of the current school year will be paid an additional \$750/year as a stipend for holding the national certification. Said stipend will be paid to the teacher no later than the first payroll in December of the current year. Submitted evidence of National Board Certification need only be submitted once and will last for the duration of the certificate.

# **Article 14 Reduction in Force**

- 14.1 The Board may issue a reduction in force where there is a loss of funding, a drop in student enrollment, or when it believes there are educationally viable reasons to do so. However, the Board agrees that the reduction of the professional staff of the school Districts covered by this Agreement will not be made arbitrarily, capriciously, or without basis in fact. Should it become necessary to institute a reduction in force, the procedures below will be followed:
  - A. Association Notification The Association will be notified of any proposed staff reduction as early as possible or by April 15<sup>th</sup>. In the event of a petition or reconsideration of the budget, the Board will notify the Association as soon as possible of potential RIFs. Such notification will be in writing and will include the specific positions under consideration.
  - B. Attrition, Turnover, Voluntary Transfer No teacher will be laid off under the provisions of this Article if the reduction can be accomplished through staff turnover, attrition or voluntary transfer.
  - C. Teacher lay-offs will be made by seniority within each employing school District or Supervisory Union and within the following employment categories:

## Elementary (Grade Pre K-6)

- 1. Classroom teachers employed in grades pre K-6 shall be laid off in the reverse order of seniority provided the teachers who remain hold appropriate licensure and endorsement required to properly staff the remaining classroom teaching positions.
- Specialty teachers: Teachers employed in a specialty position (e.g., music, art, physical education, etc.) shall be laid off in the reverse order of seniority within the specialty area in which the reduction in force occurs, provided the teachers who remain hold

appropriate licensure and endorsement required to properly staff the remaining teaching positions within that specialty.

# Middle and High School (Grades 7-12):

Teachers employed in grades 7-12 shall be laid off in reverse order of seniority within the academic area in which the reduction occurs, provided the teachers who remain hold appropriate licensure and endorsements for the remaining teaching positions within that academic area. A teacher may be subject to reduction hereunder if a majority of said teacher's teaching assignment is performed within the academic area in which the reduction occurs.

## **Supervisory Union:**

Teachers employed by the Supervisory Union shall be laid off in the reverse order of seniority, provided the teachers who remain hold appropriate licensure and endorsement required to properly staff the remaining teaching positions in the Supervisory Union.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a teacher within an employment category in which a reduction in force will be implemented is on an improvement plan, that teacher may be laid off prior to a less senior teacher in the employment category.

- D. Teacher Notification Notice of layoff under the provisions of this Article to the teacher(s) affected will be no later than April 15<sup>th</sup>. Layoff of a teacher will only be issued after a meeting between the teacher(s) involved and the Principal, at which time the teacher(s) will be notified in writing of the reason(s) for the layoff. The teacher may, at his or her option, have a representative of the Association present at such a meeting.
- E. Seniority Computation For the purpose of this Article, seniority is computed from the beginning of the teacher's most recent period of continuous employment in the school district, and accrues as of the date he or she signed his or her contract. Part-time teachers accrue seniority on a pro-rate basis.

By November 15<sup>th</sup> of each school year the Superintendent will provide the Association with a list showing the seniority of each teacher by endorsement and will, thereafter, promptly notify the Association of any changes in said list. The Association, by its President, will after examination of such list or notice of change, sign the Superintendent's copy indicating concurrence.

F. Leave of Absence – Seniority will continue to accrue during all paid leave of absence. Leaves of absence without pay will not be included in calculating seniority. Leaves of absence will be considered to have interrupted service. Seniority will be established annually as of November 1<sup>st</sup>.

# G. Reassignment -

1. If an opening exists for which a teacher affected by the reduction in force is licensed and endorsed and qualified by experience and/or education, he/she will be

transferred to the position. A teacher who is not currently licensed and endorsed for the opening may be considered for the position if he/she can be licensed and endorsed in time to fill the position. This determination is to be made at the sole discretion of the Superintendent.

- 2. A teacher who is transferred to an area in which he/she is not currently teaching will be under a one (1) year probationary period. During this period the teacher will:
  - i. Be assigned a mentor
  - ii. Engage in goal-setting with the mentor
  - iii. Have a minimum of three (3) observations
  - iv. Complete a self-evaluation
  - v. Receive a summative evaluation by April 1st
- 3. Leave for Interviews Any teacher(s) affected by a reduction in force may request up to three (3) days leave, with pay, for the purpose of interviewing for other employment.
- 4. Retirement Incentive Any teacher affected by a reduction in force who is otherwise eligible for the Retirement Incentive described in this Agreement may be offered the Incentive as a severance package.

# 14.2 Recall Rights:

Laid-off teachers will be recalled in seniority order to vacancies within their category of service as defined below in the Article. A laid-off teacher will have the recall right for two (2) years following the effective day of layoff, which is July 1<sup>st</sup>, and if recalled, will retain all benefits, including seniority, accrued at the time of layoff.

If a recalled teacher has secured employment elsewhere, he/she will be allowed a reasonable amount of additional time before being required to report to work.

All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time of his/her layoff, including unused accumulated sick leave, will be restored to the teacher upon return to active employment, and he/she will be placed on the proper step of the salary schedule for his/her current position. A teacher will not receive increment credit for the time spent on layoff.

#### Recall Notice -

Notices of recall will be sent by the Board, certified mail/return receipt requested to the last address given to the Board by the teacher, and a copy of each recall notice will be also sent to the President of the Association. If the teacher fails to respond within ten (10) days after receipt of the above notice of recall, he/she will be deemed to have refused the position offer and waives recall rights under this Agreement.

# **Article 15 Negotiations Procedures**

- 15.1 Written notification from either party of the desire to negotiate a successor agreement will be made by September 30. The Board and the Association agree to meet commencing not later than November 1 for the purpose of negotiating in good faith to reach agreement for the year beginning July 1<sup>st</sup> on any subject, pursuant to 16 V.S.A., Chapter 57. The Board, in accordance with Vermont law, will not negotiate with any teachers' organizations other than the Association.
- 15.2 The representatives of the Board and the Association will meet regularly at mutually agreed times until final agreement is reached.
- During negotiations, the representatives of the Board and the Association will present relevant data, exchange points of view and make proposals and counter proposals.
- 15.4 Representatives for the Board and for the Association will be empowered to make tentative agreements.
- 15.5 When a tentative agreement is reached, it will be put in writing as a memorandum of understanding between the parties and submitted to the Boards and Associations for ratification.
- 15.6 The Board will make available to the Association for inspection and duplication at reasonable times and places, public records, data and information pertinent to the negotiations. Either party may, if it so desires, utilize the services of outside consultants and may call upon professional and lay representatives to assist in negotiations.

#### **Article 16 General Provisions**

#### 16.1 **Severability**:

If any section, subsection, provisions, clause, or portion of this Agreement shall for any reason become invalid, or be deemed so by a court of competent jurisdiction, such section, subsection, provision, clause, or portion of the Agreement shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision and such invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. The parties shall meet within ten (10) days to clarify and/or amend the affected portions of the Agreement.

## 16.2 Individual Contract Consistency:

Any individual contract between the Board and an individual teacher heretofore or hereinafter executed shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If any individual contract contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement, during its duration, shall be controlling.

#### 16.3 Printing:

Within one month following ratification of the Agreement by both parties, the Board shall post a copy of the Agreement on the Supervisory Union web page. The Board shall give one printed copy to each new teacher before said teacher signs an individual contract. The board will provide each new teacher a copy of the document reflecting the resolution of health care benefits by the Commission on Public School Employees Health Benefits. This document is made part of this agreement (Appendix D) and will be posted on the CCSU website.

## 16.4 Notices:

Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, all written notices to the Board or the Association, respectively, will be deemed to have been properly served if delivered electronically first and then personally or by certified mail to the Chair of the Boards and Superintendent and the President of the Association at the school at which he/she teachers. Furthermore, a copy of such notice shall be sent to the applicable school representative for the Association.

### 16.5 Time Deadlines:

Unless otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, all time deadlines provided in this Agreement shall consist of school days from September 1 – June 12. From June 12 through August 31, days shall be weekdays, exclusive of legal holidays.

- 16.6 All salaries, benefits, duties and planning time for part-time teachers will be prorated based on his or her full-time equivalency (FTE) status, unless specified differently elsewhere in this Agreement.
  - 16.7 This Agreement incorporates the entire understanding of all parties on all matters which were the subject of negotiations. During the term this Agreement is in force, neither party will be required to negotiate with respect to any such matter whether or not covered by this Agreement. All other matters not incorporated in this Agreement remain within the purview of the Board which retains the right to manage and direct the operation of the School District, in order to efficiently carry out its mission in accordance with Vermont State Statutes.

#### **Article 17 Retirement**

- A. Payment to Retiring Teachers: (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)
  With twenty (20) years in the CCSU System \$1,000.00
- B. Early Retirement Incentive Program: (Does not apply to Cabot & Twinfield)

  The School Board shall have the discretion, on an annual basis, to offer or not offer the early retirement plan noted herein and the discretion to specify the number of teachers to whom it will be offered.

This Early Retirement Incentive Program will be offered under the following limited conditions:

#### 1. Eligibility:

This program is offered to any teacher in the bargaining unit whose age and years of experience in the district, when added together, equal seventy (70). For example, a teacher fifty (50) years old with twenty (20) years teaching experience in the district or at the top of the salary schedule would be eligible for this program.

# 2. Compensation:

- (a) The teacher shall receive a total cash payment equivalent to sixty-six percent (66%) of his/her highest teaching salary at the District. This figure shall be based only upon the annual teaching salary figure and shall not include extra compensation which may have been given for extra-curricular or co-curricular activities, per diem, or any other additional compensation.
- (b) For one (1) year following the teacher's resignation, the teacher may select and shall be provided either a single or two-person membership in the Blue Cross/Blue Shield Plan provided to teachers; both the Board and the teacher shall contribute the same percentage toward the premium cost of said plan as provided in the Agreement for said year of coverage.
- (c) The teacher may obtain family membership plans by paying the difference between the premium cost of such plans and the cost of the single membership plan. Following the expiration of the one-year period, the teacher will be allowed to continue membership in the group plan for an additional six months provided he/she pays the full cost of the group rate premium. Arrangements for payment of insurance premiums by the teacher will be established by the District.
- (d) At the teacher's option, the monetary amount of the health insurance premium will be paid to the Vermont Teachers Retirement System to pay for the teacher's cost of the plan.
- (e) The cash payment under Section B (1) above will be made in three equal installments on September 15 during the first three years following the teacher's resignation. The District will deduct any applicable state and federal taxes from the payments to teachers.

## C. Procedures:

The Board will provide annual notice, by October 15, to the Association and the teachers
if it intends to offer the Program. This notice shall specify the number of teachers to
whom the Program will be offered.

- 2. Applications for this Program must be submitted by the teacher to the Superintendent by December 15.
- 3. If a greater number of teachers apply than the number authorized by the Board, seniority for CCSU will be used to select the teachers who will be selected for the Program.
- 4. Teachers will be notified whether or not they have been selected by March 15.
- 5. If early retirement is granted, teacher(s) must submit a letter of resignation within ten (10) school days of being notified.

#### D. Other Provisions:

This Program may be offered for all years of this Agreement, and in accordance with the provisions and procedures above.

- 1. This Program is being offered on an entirely voluntary basis. No teacher shall be obligated to participate in this Program.
- 2. Teachers who are interested in this Program may contact the Superintendent's office to verify their salary, health insurance costs and procedures.
- 3. This Program shall be considered an addendum to the current Agreement, and should a dispute arise as to the interpretation of its provisions, the enforcement procedures of the grievance and arbitration provisions of the Agreement shall apply. It is specifically understood, however, that this Program shall expire according to the terms specified herein. In no way shall it be considered part of the status quo should the parties fail to reach agreement on a successor to the current Agreement nor shall it be continued beyond the term specified except by express written agreement.

#### Article 17.A Early Retirement Incentive (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

#### **Availability**

For a given year, the Board may make available career change/early retirement incentives. If the Board so chooses, the Board will announce the availability of the career change/early retirement incentives by October 1st. At that time, the Board will determine the number of career change/early retirement slots that will be made available for the next school year. Applicants for these slots must respond in writing no later than December 1st. If there are more applicants than slots in a given year, slots will be awarded by seniority in the district.

Any teacher who will have accumulated fifteen (15) years of teaching service in the district and who will reach fifty (50) years of age by the next June 30th and who retires/resigns from the district will be eligible for the benefits as follows:

- a. The teacher who retires/resigns under this plan will receive a cash payout of eighty percent (80%) of his/her last full year salary with the district exclusive of any extra compensation for extracurricular activities
- b. The cash payment as described above will be made in four (4) equal installments on or before September 1st of the first four (4) years following the teacher's retirement/resignation. The payments will be less any applicable deductions for state and federal taxes. The teacher may opt to have the district pay directly into the teacher retirement system.
- c. The individual teacher will be entitled to dental insurance coverage for one (1) year following the effective date of the retirement/resignation from July 1st through June 30th in accordance with the terms of Section 9.4 of this Agreement.
- d. Following the expiration of the one-year period for insurance coverage, the teacher will be allowed to continue dental insurance coverage in the district's group plan at his or her own expense for a period of eighteen (18) months.
- e. Dental insurance coverage will not be available if coverage could be obtained from a subsequent employer.

#### "Air Time" Retirement

A teacher vested in the Vermont State Teachers' Retirement System (VSTRS) and who will have accumulated 15 years of teaching service in the district and who also meets the eligibility requirements to purchase "Air Time" as determined by the VSTRS (Vermont State Teachers' Retirement System) may elect to have the District use all or a portion of the above referenced eighty percent (80%) to purchase up to five (5) years of the "Air Time" in the VSTRS, as may be needed for the teacher to reach the maximum retirement benefit. As in Section 20.2, this retirement incentive is subject to Board approval on an annual basis. Any/all interest charges incurred, as part of this "Air Time" retirement incentive will be the sole responsibility of the teacher.

#### **Procedures**

A teacher who wishes to apply for this program will tender a letter of resignation to be effective June 30th by December 1st following the Board's October 1st announcement of the availability of the Program.

#### **Protections**

The program is strictly voluntary and no teacher will be obligated or pressured to participate in it.

# **Article 18 Duration**

18.1 This Agreement shall become effective as of July 1, 2022, and shall continue in full force and effect until twelve (12:00) midnight, June 30, 2025. If neither the Board nor the Association gives written notice to the other of its intention to negotiate a successor to this Agreement by September 30, as provided in Article 15, this Agreement will automatically be renewed and will continue in full force and effect for an additional period of one (1) year.

By: CALEDONIA COOPERATIVE EDUCATION ASSOCIATION DocuSigned by: Rossanne Roberts President - Roxanne Roberts Christopher Sheelian ែកខ្មែលមិន្ត្រស – Christopher Sheehan **CABOT TEACHER ASSOCIATION** By: DocuSigned by: thomas Dunbar APPesident 15 Thomas Dunbar CALEDONIA CENTRAL SUPERVISORY UNION By: DocuSigned by: Clayt Carpile FB03Pd CPMPperson - Clayton Cargill CALEDONIA COOPERATIVE SCHOOL DISTRICT By: Board Chairperson – Jessica Roy **DANVILLE SCHOOL DISTRICT** By: DocuSigned by: Lant Carpel DDD01D1EADD401... Board Chairperson – Clayton Cargill PEACHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT By: DocuSigned by: Board Chairperson – Mark Clough By: TWINFIELD UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT DocuSigned by: Patrick Healy <sup>83</sup>Board Chairperson – Patrick Healy By: CABOT SCHOOL DISTRICT DocuSigned by: 5M/w ්පීරික් ් Chairperson – Rory Thibault

Appendix A1: Barnet, Danville, Peacham, Walden and Waterford Salary Schedules

	CCOOP FY23									
STEP	ВА	BA+15	BA+30	B+45/M	M+15	M+30				
1	\$ 43,705	\$ 44,929	\$ 46,152	\$ 47,376	\$ 48,600	\$ 49,824				
2	\$ 44,594	\$ 45,818	\$ 47,042	\$ 48,266	\$ 49,489	\$50,713				
3	\$ 45,484	\$ 46,708	\$ 47,931	\$ 49,155	\$ 50,379	\$51,602				
4	\$ 46,373	\$ 47,597	\$ 48,821	\$ 50,044	\$ 51,268	\$ 52,492				
5	\$ 47,263	\$ 48,486	\$49,710	\$ 50,934	\$ 52,158	\$53,381				
6	\$48,152	\$ 49,376	\$ 50,599	\$ 51,823	\$ 53,047	\$ 54,271				
7	\$49,041	\$ 50,265	\$51,489	\$ 52,713	\$ 53,936	\$ 55,160				
8	\$49,931	\$ 51,155	\$ 52,378	\$ 53,602	\$ 54,826	\$ 56,049				
9	\$ 50,820	\$ 52,044	\$ 53,268	\$ 54,491	\$ 55,715	\$ 56,939				
10	\$51,710	\$ 52,933	\$54,157	\$ 55,381	\$ 56,605	\$ 57,828				
11	\$ 52,599	\$ 53,823	\$55,046	\$ 56,270	\$ 57,494	\$ 58,718				
12	\$ 53,488	\$ 54,712	\$55,936	\$ 57,160	\$ 58,383	\$ 59,607				
13	\$ 54,378	\$ 55,602	\$ 56,825	\$ 58,049	\$ 59,273	\$ 60,496				
14		\$ 56,491	\$ 57,715	\$ 58,938	\$ 60,162	\$ 61,386				
15		\$ 57,380	\$ 58,604	\$ 59,828	\$ 61,052	\$ 62,275				
16			\$ 59,493	\$ 60,717	\$ 61,941	\$ 63,165				
17				\$ 61,607	\$ 62,830	\$ 64,054				
18					\$ 63,720	\$ 64,943				
19					\$ 64,609	\$ 65,833				
20					\$ 65,498	\$ 66,722				
21						\$ 67,612				

-	-	-	F145	. 4
	T II	אנ	FY2	'Δ

			CCOOP	F124			
STEP	BA	BA+15	BA+30	B+45/M	M+	15	M+30
1	\$ 46,240	\$ 47,396	\$ 48,552	\$ 49,708	\$	50,864	\$ 52,020
2	\$ 47,396	\$48,552	\$ 49,708	\$ 50,864	\$	52,020	\$53,176
3	\$ 48,552	\$49,708	\$ 50,864	\$ 52,020	\$	53,176	\$ 54,332
4	\$49,708	\$ 50,864	\$ 52,020	\$ 53,176	\$	54,332	\$ 55,488
5	\$ 50,864	\$ 52,020	\$ 53,176	\$ 54,332	\$	55,488	\$ 56,644
6	\$ 52,020	\$ 53,176	\$ 54,332	\$ 55,488	\$	56,644	\$ 57,800
7	\$ 53,176	\$ 54,332	\$ 55,488	\$ 56,644	\$	57,800	\$ 58,956
8	\$ 54,332	\$ 55,488	\$ 56,644	\$ 57,800	\$	58,956	\$60,112
9	\$ 55,488	\$ 56,644	\$ 57,800	\$ 58,956	\$	60,112	\$61,268
10	\$ 56,644	\$ 57,800	\$ 58,956	\$ 60,112	\$	61,268	\$ 62,424
11	\$ 57,800	\$ 58,956	\$ 60,112	\$ 61,268	\$	62,424	\$ 63,580
12	\$ 58,956	\$ 60,112	\$ 61,268	\$ 62,424	\$	63,580	\$ 64,736
13	\$ 60,112	\$ 61,268	\$ 62,424	\$ 63,580	\$	64,736	\$ 65,892
14		\$ 62,424	\$ 63,580	\$ 64,736	\$	65,892	\$ 67,048
15		\$ 63,580	\$ 64,736	\$ 65,892	\$	67,048	\$ 68,204
16			\$ 65,892	\$ 67,048	\$	68,204	\$ 69,360
17				\$ 68,204	\$	69,360	\$ 70,516
18					\$	70,516	\$71,672
19					\$	71,672	\$ 72,828
20					\$	72,828	\$ 73,984
21							\$ 75,140

# CCOOP FY25

			CCOOP F	123		
STEP	ВА	BA+15	BA+30	B+45/M	M+15	M+30
1	\$ 47,033	\$ 48,679	\$ 50,325	\$51,971	\$ 53,618	\$ 55,264
2	\$ 48,341	\$ 49,987	\$51,633	\$ 53,279	\$ 54,925	\$56,571
3	\$ 49,648	\$ 51,294	\$52,940	\$ 54,586	\$ 56,233	\$ 57,879
4	\$50,956	\$ 52,602	\$ 54,248	\$ 55,894	\$ 57,540	\$ 59,186
5	\$52,263	\$ 53,909	\$ 55,555	\$ 57,202	\$ 58,848	\$ 60,494
6	\$53,571	\$ 55,217	\$ 56,863	\$ 58,509	\$ 60,155	\$61,801
7	\$ 54,878	\$ 56,524	\$58,170	\$59,817	\$ 61,463	\$ 63,109
8	\$ 56,186	\$ 57,832	\$59,478	\$61,124	\$ 62,770	\$ 64,416
9	\$ 57,493	\$ 59,139	\$ 60,785	\$ 62,432	\$ 64,078	\$ 65,724
10	\$ 58,801	\$ 60,447	\$ 62,093	\$ 63,739	\$ 65,385	\$67,031
11	\$60,108	\$ 61,754	\$ 63,400	\$ 65,047	\$ 66,693	\$ 68,339
12	\$61,416	\$ 63,062	\$ 64,708	\$ 66,354	\$ 68,000	\$ 69,646
13	\$ 62,723	\$ 64,369	\$ 66,016	\$ 67,662	\$ 69,308	\$ 70,954
14		\$ 65,677	\$ 67,323	\$ 68,969	\$ 70,615	\$72,262
15		\$ 66,984	\$ 68,631	\$ 70,277	\$ 71,923	\$ 73,569
16			\$ 69,938	\$71,584	\$ 73,230	\$74,877
17				\$ 72,892	\$ 74,538	\$ 76,184
18					\$ 75,845	\$ 77,492
19					\$ 77,153	\$ 78,799
20					\$ 78,460	\$80,107
21						\$81,414

# **Appendix A2: Cabot Teachers Salary Schedules**

	Cabot FY23											
STEP	8/	A	BA	+15	BA+3	0	M		М	15	M+	30
¥ 8	1 \$	42,672	\$	43,952	\$	45,232	\$	46,512	\$	47,793	\$	49,073
0 0 1 3	2 \$	43,666	\$	44,946	\$	46,227	\$	47,507	\$	48,787	\$	50,067
	3 \$	44,661	\$	45,941	\$	47,221	\$	48,501	\$	49,781	\$	51,061
	4 \$	45,655	\$	46,935	\$	48,215	\$	49,495	\$	50,775	\$	52,056
	5 \$	46,649	\$	47,929	\$	49,209	\$	50,490	\$	51,770	\$	53,050
	6 \$	47,643	\$	48,923	\$	50,204	\$	51,484	\$	52,764	\$	54,044
8	7 \$	48,638	\$	49,918	\$	51,198	\$	52,478	\$	53,758	\$	55,038
)	8 \$	49,632	\$	50,912	\$	52,192	\$	53,472	\$	54,752	\$	56,033
	9 \$	50,626	\$	51,906	\$	53,186	\$	54,467	\$	55,747	\$	57,027
1	0 \$	51,620	\$	52,900	\$	54,181	\$	55,461	\$	56,741	\$	58,021
1	1 \$	52,615	\$	53,895	\$	55,175	\$	56,455	\$	57,735	\$	59,015
1	2 \$	53,609	\$	54,889	\$	56,169	\$	57,449	\$	58,729	\$	60,010
1	3 \$	54,603	\$	55,883	\$	57,163	\$	58,444	\$	59,724	\$	61,004
1	4		\$	56,878	\$	58,158	\$	59,438	\$	60,718	\$	61,998
1	5		\$	57,872	\$	59,152	\$	60,432	\$	61,712	\$	62,992
1	6				\$	60,146	\$	61,426	\$	62,707	\$	63,987
1	7						\$	62,421	\$	63,701	\$	64,981
1	8								\$	64,695	\$	65,975
1	9								\$	65,689	\$	66,969
2	0								\$	66,684	\$	67,964
2	1										\$	68,958

Ca	h	at	17	Λ
La	u	UL	_	-

			u	anot F1	L4+		
STEP	BA	BA+15	BA+3	30	М	M+15	M+30
1	\$ 44,086	\$ 45,409	\$	46,731	\$ 48,054	\$ 49,376	\$ 50,699
2	\$ 45,188	\$ 46,511	\$	47,833	\$ 49,156	\$ 50,478	\$51,801
3	\$ 46,290	\$ 47,613	\$	48,935	\$ 50,258	\$51,581	\$ 52,903
4	\$ 47,392	\$ 48,715	\$	50,038	\$ 51,360	\$ 52,683	\$ 54,005
5	\$ 48,495	\$49,817	\$	51,140	\$ 52,462	\$ 53,785	\$55,108
6	\$ 49,597	\$ 50,919	\$	52,242	\$ 53,564	\$ 54,887	\$ 56,210
7	\$ 50,699	\$ 52,021	\$	53,344	\$ 54,667	\$ 55,989	\$ 57,312
8	\$51,801	\$53,124	\$	54,446	\$ 55,769	\$ 57,091	\$ 58,414
9	\$ 52,903	\$ 54,226	\$	55,548	\$ 56,871	\$ 58,194	\$ 59,516
10	\$ 54,005	\$ 55,328	\$	56,651	\$ 57,973	\$ 59,296	\$ 60,618
11	\$ 55,108	\$ 56,430	\$	57,753	\$ 59,075	\$ 60,398	\$61,720
12	\$ 56,210	\$ 57,532	\$	58,855	\$ 60,177	\$61,500	\$ 62,823
13	\$ 57,312	\$ 58,634	\$	59,957	\$61,280	\$ 62,602	\$ 63,925
14		\$ 59,737	\$	61,059	\$ 62,382	\$ 63,704	\$ 65,027
15		\$ 60,839	\$	62,161	\$ 63,484	\$ 64,806	\$ 66,129
16			\$	63,263	\$ 64,586	\$ 65,909	\$67,231
17					\$ 65,688	\$ 67,011	\$ 68,333
18						\$ 68,113	\$ 69,435
19						\$ 69,215	\$ 70,538
20						\$ 70,317	\$ 71,640
21							\$ 72,742

	Cabot FY25									
STEP	BA	BA+15	BA+30	M	M+15	M+30				
1	\$ 46,186	\$ 47,572	\$ 48,957	\$ 50,343	\$51,728	\$ 53,114				
2	\$ 47,341	\$ 48,726	\$ 50,112	\$ 51,497	\$ 52,883	\$ 54,269				
3	\$ 48,495	\$ 49,881	\$ 51,266	\$ 52,652	\$ 54,038	\$ 55,423				
4	\$ 49,650	\$51,036	\$52,421	\$ 53,807	\$55,192	\$ 56,578				
5	\$ 50,805	\$52,190	\$ 53,576	\$54,961	\$ 56,347	\$ 57,733				
6	\$51,959	\$ 53,345	\$ 54,730	\$ 56,116	\$ 57,502	\$ 58,887				
7	\$53,114	\$ 54,499	\$ 55,885	\$57,271	\$ 58,656	\$ 60,042				
8	\$ 54,269	\$55,654	\$ 57,040	\$ 58,425	\$59,811	\$61,196				
9	\$ 55,423	\$ 56,809	\$ 58,194	\$ 59,580	\$ 60,966	\$62,351				
10	\$56,578	\$ 57,963	\$59,349	\$60,735	\$62,120	\$ 63,506				
11	\$ 57,733	\$ 59,118	\$ 60,504	\$ 61,889	\$ 63,275	\$ 64,660				
12	\$ 58,887	\$60,273	\$ 61,658	\$ 63,044	\$ 64,429	\$ 65,815				
13	\$60,042	\$61,427	\$ 62,813	\$ 64,199	\$ 65,584	\$ 66,970				
14		\$62,582	\$ 63,968	\$ 65,353	\$ 66,739	\$ 68,124				
15		\$ 63,737	\$ 65,122	\$ 66,508	\$ 67,893	\$ 69,279				
16			\$ 66,277	\$ 67,662	\$ 69,048	\$ 70,434				
17				\$ 68,817	\$ 70,203	\$71,588				
18					\$ 71,357	\$72,743				
19					\$ 72,512	\$ 73,898				

20

21

\$73,667 \$75,052

\$ 76,207

# **Appendix A3: Twinfield Teachers Salary Schedules**

Twinfield FY23									
STEP	ВА	BA+15	BA+30	M	M+15	M+30			
1	\$ 45,552	\$ 46,991	\$ 48,431	\$ 49,870	\$51,310	\$ 52,749			
2	\$ 46,577	\$48,016	\$ 49,456	\$ 50,895	\$ 52,335	\$ 53,774			
3	\$ 47,602	\$49,041	\$ 50,481	\$ 51,920	\$ 53,360	\$ 54,799			
4	\$ 48,627	\$ 50,066	\$51,506	\$ 52,945	\$ 54,385	\$ 55,824			
5	\$49,652	\$51,091	\$52,531	\$ 53,970	\$ 55,409	\$ 56,849			
6	\$50,677	\$ 52,116	\$ 53,555	\$ 54,995	\$ 56,434	\$ 57,874			
7	\$51,702	\$ 53,141	\$ 54,580	\$ 56,020	\$ 57,459	\$ 58,899			
8	\$ 52,726	\$ 54,166	\$ 55,605	\$ 57,045	\$ 58,484	\$ 59,924			
9	\$53,751	\$ 55,191	\$ 56,630	\$ 58,070	\$ 59,509	\$ 60,949			
10	\$ 54,776	\$ 56,216	\$ 57,655	\$ 59,095	\$ 60,534	\$61,973			
11	\$ 55,801	\$ 57,241	\$ 58,680	\$ 60,120	\$ 61,559	\$ 62,998			
12	\$ 56,826	\$ 58,266	\$ 59,705	\$61,144	\$ 62,584	\$ 64,023			
13	\$ 57,851	\$ 59,290	\$ 60,730	\$62,169	\$ 63,609	\$ 65,048			
14		\$ 60,315	\$ 61,755	\$ 63,194	\$ 64,634	\$ 66,073			
15	Ĭ,	\$61,340	\$ 62,780	\$ 64,219	\$ 65,659	\$ 67,098			
16			\$ 63,805	\$ 65,244	\$ 66,684	\$ 68,123			
17				\$ 66,269	\$ 67,708	\$ 69,148			

18

19

20

21

\$68,733 \$70,173

\$69,758 \$71,198

\$70,783 \$72,223

\$73,248

_		~		-	-
I W	vin	tie	d	F١	124

			I MIIIIEIM	1124		
STEP	BA	BA+15	BA+30	M	M+15	M+30
1	\$ 47,032	\$ 48,518	\$ 50,004	\$51,491	\$ 52,977	\$ 54,463
2	\$ 48,137	\$ 49,623	\$51,110	\$ 52,596	\$ 54,082	\$ 55,568
3	\$49,243	\$ 50,729	\$ 52,215	\$53,701	\$ 55,187	\$ 56,674
4	\$ 50,348	\$ 51,834	\$ 53,320	\$ 54,806	\$ 56,293	\$ 57,779
5	\$ 51,453	\$ 52,939	\$ 54,425	\$ 55,912	\$ 57,398	\$ 58,884
6	\$ 52,558	\$ 54,044	\$ 55,531	\$ 57,017	\$ 58,503	\$ 59,989
7	\$ 53,664	\$ 55,150	\$ 56,636	\$ 58,122	\$ 59,608	\$ 61,095
8	\$ 54,769	\$ 56,255	\$ 57,741	\$ 59,227	\$ 60,714	\$ 62,200
9	\$ 55,874	\$ 57,360	\$ 58,846	\$ 60,333	\$ 61,819	\$ 63,305
10	\$ 56,979	\$ 58,465	\$ 59,952	\$61,438	\$ 62,924	\$ 64,410
11	\$ 58,085	\$ 59,571	\$61,057	\$ 62,543	\$ 64,029	\$ 65,516
12	\$ 59,190	\$ 60,676	\$ 62,162	\$ 63,648	\$ 65,135	\$ 66,621
13	\$ 60,295	\$61,781	\$ 63,267	\$ 64,754	\$ 66,240	\$ 67,726
14		\$ 62,886	\$ 64,373	\$ 65,859	\$ 67,345	\$ 68,831
15		\$ 63,992	\$ 65,478	\$ 66,964	\$ 68,450	\$ 69,937
16			\$ 66,583	\$ 68,069	\$ 69,556	\$ 71,042
17				\$ 69,175	\$ 70,661	\$ 72,147
18					\$ 71,766	\$ 73,252
19					\$ 72,871	\$ 74,358
20					\$ 73,977	\$ 75,463
21						\$ 76,568

# **Twinfield FY25**

			I willield	F1Z3		
STEP	ВА	BA+15	BA+30	M	M+15	M+30
1	\$ 48,877	\$ 50,422	\$51,966	\$ 53,511	\$ 55,055	\$ 56,600
2	\$ 50,099	\$ 51,643	\$ 53,188	\$ 54,732	\$ 56,277	\$ 57,821
3	\$51,321	\$ 52,865	\$ 54,410	\$ 55,954	\$ 57,499	\$ 59,043
4	\$ 52,543	\$ 54,087	\$ 55,632	\$ 57,176	\$ 58,721	\$ 60,265
5	\$ 53,765	\$ 55,309	\$ 56,854	\$ 58,398	\$ 59,943	\$ 61,487
6	\$ 54,987	\$ 56,531	\$ 58,076	\$ 59,620	\$ 61,165	\$62,709
7	\$ 56,209	\$ 57,753	\$ 59,298	\$ 60,842	\$ 62,387	\$63,931
8	\$ 57,430	\$ 58,975	\$ 60,520	\$ 62,064	\$ 63,609	\$ 65,153
9	\$ 58,652	\$ 60,197	\$61,741	\$ 63,286	\$ 64,830	\$ 66,375
10	\$59,874	\$ 61,419	\$ 62,963	\$ 64,508	\$ 66,052	\$ 67,597
11	\$61,096	\$ 62,641	\$ 64,185	\$ 65,730	\$ 67,274	\$ 68,819
12	\$ 62,318	\$ 63,863	\$ 65,407	\$ 66,952	\$ 68,496	\$ 70,041
13	\$ 63,540	\$ 65,085	\$ 66,629	\$ 68,174	\$ 69,718	\$ 71,263
14		\$ 66,307	\$ 67,851	\$ 69,396	\$ 70,940	\$ 72,485
15		\$ 67,528	\$ 69,073	\$70,617	\$72,162	\$ 73,707
16			\$ 70,295	\$ 71,839	\$ 73,384	\$ 74,928
17				\$ 73,061	\$ 74,606	\$ 76,150
18					\$ 75,828	\$ 77,372
19					\$ 77,050	\$ 78,594
20					\$ 78,272	\$ 79,816
21						\$81,038

# **APPENDIX B CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES**

Positions listed in Table A will be staffed by a school employee. School employees in these positions will be paid according to the stipend schedule below for work done outside of the contracted school day. Employee participation will be voluntary. Positions listed in Table B may be filled by school employees or by qualified non-employees hired by the District. Contracts for co-curricular activities are for one year only and are not subject to renewal in the manner of individual teaching or support staff contracts. The Board specifically reserves its right to conduct or not conduct these activities.

Table A: The following Co-curricular activities must be led by school employees hired by the District	
Teacher School Based Leadership Team refers to the person(s) responsible for principal duties in the principal's absence and therefore may occur during the school day in place of prep time. This a per teacher stipend.	\$1,200
Student Leadership Team Coordinator	\$500
Music Director for state holiday band performances	\$500
Freshman Class Advisor	\$800
Sophomore Class Advisor	\$800
Junior Class Advisor	\$1100
Senior Class Advisor	\$2000
Senior Project Coordinator	\$1800
Middle Grade Class Advisors/8th grade class advisors	\$800
Student Council – High School	\$1700
Student Council – Middle School	\$700
National Honor Society	\$725
PreK-12 Yearbook team	\$2000
Pre-8 Yearbook team	\$800
High School International Club	\$1200
Spelling Bee	\$400
Geo Bee	\$400
Science/STEM Program	\$1,400

Table B: The following Co-curricular activities may be led by school employees <i>or</i> non-employees qualified and hired by the District	
Drama	\$1,400
Varsity Soccer	\$2200
Varsity Basketball	\$2800
Varsity Baseball or Softball	\$2200
Junior Varsity Soccer	\$725
Junior Varsity Basketball	\$1900
Middle Grade Sports (if part of a school run program.)	\$800
Lacrosse	\$1000
Cross Country Running	\$500
Track and Field	\$500
Cross Country Skiing	\$500
Winter Activity Coordinator- PreK-8 or 12 five or more weeks	\$800

## (Cabot & Twinfield Only)

Teachers who facilitate fundraising for trips costing more than five thousand dollars (\$5,000) and consisting of three (3) or more nights that include overnight stays involving student supervision will receive a stipend of one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) for each full day of the trip.

The building administrator must pre-approve advisor positions and/or activities that are eligible for stipends.

Teachers who serve as high school class advisors will be given a stipend of \$500 to include facilitation of 6 class meetings, planning class activities, fund raisers and community service. A teacher who serves as advisor to Student Council will be given a stipend of \$500. A teacher who serves as Chair of the

Professional Development Council will receive a stipend of \$500. A teacher who serves as the leader of the National Honor Society will receive a stipend of \$500.

# (Cabot Only:)

**Leadership Team Members** 

Leadership Team members shall be compensated \$2,000 per year. During the academic year, Leadership Team members meet 2-4 hours per month with the building administrator and will help plan and facilitate professional learning activities.

#### Appendix C - TERMS AND CONDITIONS - HEALTHCARE ARBITRATION AWARD

Terms and Conditions as Required by the Arbitration Award and Resolution of Negotiations between the Commission of Public School Employee Health Benefits Pursuant to the Provisions of 16 V.S.A. Chapter 61

# Article I. Recognition:

1.1 In accordance with 16 V.S.A. Chapter 61 (Act 11 of the 2018 Special Session of the Vermont General Assembly) (hereafter Act 11), the five (5) representatives of participating employees on the Commission on Public School Employee Health Benefits (Employee Commissioners) are recognized as the exclusive bargaining representative of eligible employees for all aspects of representation within the jurisdiction created by Act 11. The five publicly elected school board member Commissioners appointed by the Vermont State School Boards' Association (Employer Commissioners) are recognized as representing the interests of the employing and governing school districts and supervisory unions throughout the State of Vermont within the jurisdiction created by Act 11. Together, the Employee Commissioners and the Employer Commissioners constitute the Commission on Public School Employee Health Benefits (Commission).

#### Article II. Definitions:

- 2.1 The following definitions shall be applicable to this document of the Commission (Document):
- a) Licensed Teachers: Employees of Vermont school districts and supervisory districts providing employment services requiring a professional teaching license from the Vermont Agency of Education (AOE).
- b) Licensed Administrators: Employees of Vermont school districts and supervisory districts (District Employees) providing employment services requiring a professional administrator's license from the AOE.
- c) Support Staff: A municipal employee as defined in 21 V.S.A. Section 1722.

#### Article III. Scope of Bargaining:

- 3.1
- a) Determining eligibility for health benefit plans and tiers of coverage for school employees;
- b) Standardizing the duration of health insurance coverage during a term of employment;
- c) Negotiating per the standards set forth in 21 V.S.A. Section 2103 as the same may be amended from time to time.
- d) Researching, vetting and establishing a system of third-party administration that is efficient and competent, technologically sophisticated and manageable, and accountable to employers and employees;
- 3.2 The parties agree that nothing herein is intended to preempt or regulate an aspect of educational system employment that is outside of the statutory jurisdiction conferred upon the Commission.

# Article IV. Plan Offerings:

4.1 All participating employees who are eligible for coverage will be able to select one of the four plans offered by the Vermont Education Health Initiative (VEHI): Platinum, Gold, Gold Consumer-Driven Health Plan (CDHP) or Silver CDHP.

# Article V. Eligibility for Health Benefit Coverage:

- 5.1 Beginning on January 1, 2021, all public-school employees who work on average a minimum of 17.5 hours per week during the school year or calendar year shall have the right to enroll in a health benefit plan with an employer subsidy to pay for premium and out-of-pocket (OOP) costs. Employees may elect coverage for themselves, their spouses, domestic partners and other qualified dependents from any of the four (4) tiers (e.g., single, two-person, parent/child[ren] and family) in any of the four (4) plans (e.g., Platinum, Gold, Gold CDHP or Silver CDHP) offered by VEHI. Spouses of employees shall include those by marriage, domestic partnerships, or civil unions.
- 5.2 Full-time status for determining the amount of employer-subsidized coverage for premium costs will be based on full time or full time equivalent (FTE) definitions as locally negotiated or determined.
- 5.3 Employees who work less than full time but a minimum of 17.5 hours per week during the school year or calendar year shall be entitled to pro-rata health benefit contributions toward premiums. Employer contributions to a health reimbursement arrangement (HRA) or health savings account (HSA) will be made in full and not pro-rated.
- 5.4 Employees will not be subject to a probationary period before being permitted access to health insurance coverage for which they are eligible.
- 5.5 Health insurance coverage for new employees or employees newly eligible for health insurance coverage will start at the earliest possible date consistent with current VEHI/Blue Cross Blue Shield of Vermont (BCBSVT) enrollment rules.
- 5.6 An employee seeking to obtain benefit coverage for the employee's domestic partner and the child(ren) of that domestic partner must satisfy the following criteria and submit the attached affidavit to the district business office.

#### Domestic Partner/Child(ren) of Domestic Partner

The employee and the domestic partner are each other's sole domestic partner and have been in an exclusive and enduring domestic relationship sharing a residence for not less than six consecutive months before enrolling in their school district's health benefit plan; and The employee and the domestic partner are 18-years old or older; and Neither the employee nor the domestic partner is married to anyone; and The employee and the domestic partner are not related by blood closer than would bar marriage under Vermont law; and The employee and the domestic partner are competent to enter into a legally binding contract; and The employee and the domestic partner have agreed between themselves to be responsible for each other's welfare. The employee may be required to produce

documentary evidence in support of a Domestic Partnership affidavit and is required to notify their employer within thirty (30) days after the termination of a Domestic Partnership. Child[ren] of Domestic Partner: The child[ren] otherwise meets the eligibility criteria for dependent child[ren] under the eligibility provisions for school health benefit coverage; and The child[ren] can be, and is, claimed as a dependent by the employee and/or the domestic partner for federal income tax deduction purposes; and The child[ren] resides with the employee and the domestic partner; and The employee and the domestic partner have agreed between themselves to be jointly responsible for the child's welfare.

5.7 Duration of Insurance Availability: the health insurance offered under this Document shall be coterminus with a covered employee's status as an eligible educational employee and will terminate when such status terminates. Nothing herein, however, is intended to affect a former employee's rights under COBRA or to adversely affect a district or the applicable bargaining unit from negotiating continuing responsibility for COBRA payments in connection with any separation from employment.

# Article VI. Premium Cost-sharing: Employers and Employees:

6.1 For Teachers, Licensed School Administrators: Each employer will contribute eighty (80%) percent of the Gold CDHP or eighty (80%) percent of the Silver CDHP for any tier of coverage. The amount of money available for Gold CDHP can be credited at the employee's discretion toward the premium costs for a tier of coverage in the Platinum or Gold (non-CDHP) VEHI plans.

6.2 For all Other School Employees: The premium split for support staff will be status quo in the separate districts through December 31, 2021, but in no case shall exceed twenty (20%) percent of Gold CDHP or Silver CDHP plan for any tier of coverage. Beginning on January 1, 2022 all support staff who are not at the 20% premium contribution level will increase the employee contribution by not more than two (2%) percentage points, not to exceed twenty (20%) percent for any tier of coverage. The amount of money available for Gold CDHP can be credited at the employee's discretion toward the premium costs for a tier of coverage in the Platinum or Gold (non-CDHP) VEHI plans.

#### Article VII. Out-of-Pocket Cost Sharing: Employers and Employees

7.1 For employees and their dependents enrolled in the VEHI Gold CDHP, employers will pay medical and pharmacy out-of-pocket (OOP) costs with first dollar contributions through an HRA in the following amounts: for licensed administrators and teachers as defined in section 2.1a and 2.1b, \$1900 for single-tier coverage and \$4000 for all other tiers of coverage; for support staff as defined in section 2.1c, \$2200 for single-tier coverage and \$4400 for all other tiers of coverage. This amount of money can be credited at the employee's discretion toward the OOP for any other VEHI plan. For employees enrolled in the VEHI Silver CDHP, employers will pay medical and pharmacy OOP costs with first dollar contributions through an HRA or HSA, at the individual employee's discretion, in the following 22 amounts: For licensed teachers and administrators, \$1900 for a single tier and \$4000 for all other tiers; for support staff, \$2200 for a single tier and \$4400 for all other tiers.

Article VIII. Employees Under Part-time Contract in Two or More Districts/Supervisory Unions: 8.1 Cost Sharing: Employees who have part-time contracts with multiple school district employers, but who meet the minimum eligibility standards hereof on the basis of all such contracted for work, shall be eligible for health insurance coverage according to this Document ("Eligible Employee with Multiple Employers") as follows: Each district will bear a proportional premium, OOP and administrative fees sharing responsibility equal to the part time percentage of the employee's contract. For example, if district "A" has a 60% employment contract/relationship with the school employee, District "A" will be responsible for 60% of the total district costs sharing responsibility set forth herein.

- 8.2 Plan Administration for Multiple District Employee: For an Eligible Employee with Multiple Employers, administration of the employee's health insurance benefits will be the primary responsibility of the district with the largest contractional relationship. In the event two of more districts have identical contractional relationships with the employee, the district that first employed the employee will have responsibility of administering the employee's insurance benefits.
- 8.3 Transfers Between Educational Employers: If an Eligible Employee with Multiple Employers transfers between two employers bound by this Document during the course of any one calendar year the employee's coverage under the plan shall remain unchanged. However, the employer obligations under this Document shall be appropriately pro-rated between the two employers and the new employer shall take on applicable administrative responsibilities.

#### Article IX. General:

- 9.1 All terms and conditions of this Document will be incorporated by reference into existing collective bargaining agreements in accordance with applicable laws.
- 9.2 All terms and conditions of this Document will be incorporated by reference into school policies or individual employment contracts that govern health benefits for school employees not in recognized bargaining units in accordance with applicable laws.
- 9.3 Nothing in this Document shall be construed to deny, restrict or add in any way the right to health insurance coverage through an employer's health care plan that employees and their dependents are entitled to under federal COBRA rules, the federal Family Medical and Leave Act (FMLA), Vermont's Family and Medical Leave Laws, or other state and federal statutes.

#### Article X. Duration of Statewide Document:

10.1 Terms and Conditions as Required by the Arbitration Award and Resolution of Negotiations Between the Commission of Public School Employee Health Benefits Pursuant to the Provisions of 16 V.S.A. Chapter 61 for the period of January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2025.

Article XI. Transitioning to a Statewide Third Party Administrator Services in the Interim: 11.1 Employers shall pay the administrative expenses charged by the Third Party Administrator (TPA).

- 11.2 Autopayment to providers will be the default payment method unless requested otherwise by the bargaining unit.
  - 11.3 The TPA chosen shall be able to provide debit cards to facilitate payments when auto-payment is not an option. Debit cards must be provided to employees prior to January 1st of each year of this Document.